POLICY REPORT

A Handbook for Policy Makers and Practitioners

Food Security and Agri-Food Policies in the New South

Lessons from successes and failures in agri-food development

Isabelle Tsakok



Food Security and Agri-Food Policies in the New South

Lessons from successes and failures in agri-food development

A Handbook for Policy Makers and Practitioners

2024

Isabelle Tsakok

I would like to thank Peter C. Timmer, Professor emeritus, Harvard University for his inspirational guidance and generous support throughout.

The Policy Center For The New South: A Public Good to Strengthen Policies

The Policy Center for the New South (PCNS) is a Moroccan think tank aiming to contribute to the improvement of economic and social public policies that challenge Morocco and the rest of Africa as integral parts of the global South.

The PCNS pleads for an open, accountable, and enterprising "new South" that defines its own narratives and mental maps around the Mediterranean and South Atlantic basins, as part of a forward-looking relationship with the rest of the world. Through its analytical endeavours, the think tank aims to support the development of public policies in Africa and to give the floor to experts from the South. This stance is focused on dialogue and partnership and aims to cultivate African expertise and excellence needed for the accurate analysis of African and global challenges and the suggestion of appropriate solutions.

As such, the PCNS brings together researchers, publishes their work and capitalizes on a network of renowned partners, representative of different regions of the world. The PCNS hosts a series of gatherings of different formats and scales throughout the year, the most important being the annual international conferences the "Atlantic Dialogues", the "African Peace and Security Annual Conference" (APSACO), and the "Africa Economic Symposium" (AES).

Finally, the think tank is developing a community of young leaders through the Atlantic Dialogues Emerging Leaders program (ADEL) a space for cooperation and networking between a new generation of decision-makers from the government, business, and civil society sectors. Through this initiative, which already counts more than 420 members, the Policy Center for the New South contributes to intergenerational dialogue and the emergence of tomorrow's leaders.

Edited by:

Stephen Gardner

Layout; Cover:

Youssef Ait El Kadi, Senior Graphic Designer, Policy Center for the New South

Policy Center for the New South

Rabat Campus of Mohammed VI Polytechnic University

Rocade Rabat Salé - 11103 Morocco Email : contact@policycenter.ma

Phone: +212 5 37 54 04 04 / Fax: +212 5 37 71 31 54

Table of contents

About Policy Center For The New South	+
Foreword	7
List of Acronyms	3
Executive Summary1	1
Key Messages for Policy Makers and Practitioners13	3
Introduction15	5
Section I: An overview of our hungry world and pathways to escape it17	7
• The developing world is burdened with widespread hunger 17	7
• The many faces of food security and insecurity worldwide 19	7
How did today's high-income, industrialized economies "escape hunger and premature death"?	
How can millions in the New South "escape hunger and premature death"?	3
Section II: What can the New South learn from the achievements and struggles of food secure countries on how to achieve food security for all in the 21st century?27	7
Lessons from successes and failures worldwide: selected country experiences	
Policies conducive or inimical to sustained agricultural productivity growth	

Policies that increase or undermine resilience to shocks that impact food security	
So, what does it take to achieve food security in our turbulent world? - Consensus and controversy	43
Conclusion	43
Annex	47
Bibliography	51

Foreword

In our world that produces enough for all, chronic hunger stalks millions in the developing world. These millions are trapped in a vicious circle of low productivity and under nutrition. This dire situation threatens to be even more challenging given climate change; increasing urbanization and demographic growth especially in Africa; high indebtedness of emerging and market developing economies, as well as low-income countries; and lowered global growth prospects. But this bleak situation should not breed despair. Widespread hunger was the fate of the majority of the population in today's rich, industrialized countries over some two centuries or so ago. Today, these countries have largely achieved food security at the macro level.

How did they escape "hunger and premature death...?" They were freed by the agricultural and industrial revolutions, which ushered in our technologically-advanced, productivity-driven modern world. Pathways for today's hungry millions out of debilitating hunger and low productivity also hinge on their adoption of productive modern technologies in the agri-food sector as the first key step up the long ladder of development.

Drawing upon historical and prevailing insights, and country experiences worldwide, this handbook is about lessons learned from these hard-earned successes in industrialized and developing countries. While each pathway was unique, there are nevertheless robust patterns in what worked and why. Policy makers and practitioners should embrace these lessons while fully realizing there is no guaranteed pathway to success. Success is within reach to the extent national leadership's vision of a food secure country is anchored in, and aided by mission-oriented institutions based on research and learning; and implemented by competent administrations committed to the public good.

Policies that have worked in many contexts to free millions from chronic hunger and put them on a pathway to food security promise to be of high interest to policy leaders in Africa and elsewhere looking for actionable ways to promote a food secure growth for all. By addressing this handbook to policy makers and practitioners, the Policy Center for the New South is pleased to contribute to turning their vision into action.

Mr. Karim El Aynaoui Executive President, Policy Center for the New South

List of Acronyms

AD : Anti-Dumping

AE : Auxilio Emergencial (Emergency Aid in Brazil)

AfCFTA: African Continental Free Trade Area

AfD : Agriculture for Development

AGRA : Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa **ASEAN** : Association of Southeast Asian Nations

AU : African Union

BGSI : Black Sea Grain InitiativeBEP : Bolsa Escola ProgramBFP : Bolsa Familia Program

Bt : Bacillus thuringiensis (used in the context of genetically modified crops)

CA : Conservation AgricultureCAP : Common Agricultural PolicyCCT : Conditional Cash Transfer

CG : Center for Global Development

COVID-19: Coronavirus Disease 2019

CRI : Regional Investment Centers (Centres Régionaux d'Investissement)

CRISPR: Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (a gene-editing

technology)

CSA : Climate Smart Agriculture

DHS: Demographic and Health Surveys

ECB: European Central Bank

EMDEs: Emerging Market and Developing Economies

EPZ : Economic Processing Zone

EU: European Union

FAO : Food and Agriculture Organization

FDI : Foreign Direct InvestmentFSH : Food Security HolisticFSS : Food Self-Sufficiency

FSY : Food Sovereignty

GMO: Genetically Modified Organisms

GR : Great British Pound
GR : Green Revolution

HYV: High-Yielding Varieties

IFPRI: International Food Policy Research Institute

LICs : Low-Income Countries

MAMO : Malabo-Montpellier

MERCOSUR: Southern Common Market

NDM: New Development Model

NEPAD: New Partnership for Africa's Development

NT: No-Till

OPEC+ : "Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries" plus non-OPEC

producers

PPP: Purchasing Power Parity

SG: Safeguards

SSA: Sub-Saharan Africa

SUS : Systéma Único de Saude (Unified Health System in Brazil)

TTF: Title Transfer Facility

UN: United Nations

USD : United States DollarWBG : World Bank GroupWFP : World Food Program

WWII: World War II

Executive Summary

Millions are severely malnourished in a world where there is enough for all. Hunger and malnutrition stalk more than 3.1 billion people. Yet, widespread hunger in all its forms is a problem which has been largely solved at the macro level in today's high-income, industrialized countries. Their "escape from hunger and premature death" is a fairly recent phenomenon. It began around 300 years ago, continued for most of the 20th century and is still ongoing today. The problems faced by poor countries nowadays are similar to those faced by today's wealthy countries for over two centuries.

What can we in the New South¹ learn from the achievements and struggles of different countries around the world on how to achieve food security for all? This book is about what it has taken to achieve food security in successful countries, what lessons we can derive from both successes and failures in agri-food development worldwide, and what opportunities and challenges lie ahead.

The main message is that such achievements require that the vicious circle between undernutrition and low agricultural productivity be broken. It takes sustained government commitment to increase the productivity and incomes of the rural poor by integrating their agricultural and rural economy in a sustained growth process that transforms both agriculture and the overall economy. Such a decades-long process is necessary but not sufficient, as it needs to be complemented by investment in areas outside the agri-food sector, such as in human capital, a social safety net to strengthen the productivity and resilience of people, in an environment threatened by climate change.

Governments must build a business-friendly environment within a stable macro framework and invest in the macro, trade and agri-food sectors, so that farmers themselves want to invest in the productivity of their farms because they view it as profitable. Since climate change is challenging the known techniques of an already risky sector, governments must invest in research, extension and knowledge dissemination so that farmers especially, the majority of whom are smallholders, can thrive and be resilient and sustainable. More broadly, investment in human capital and in the

^{1.} In our fluid world of Great Power competition, the New South is composed of developing countries, from low- to upper middle-income levels, which do not want to be defined by historical divisions and alliances. Instead, they want to further their development interests in a peaceful and inclusive way, in particular, by reducing poverty and achieving shared prosperity at home, and abroad by building alliances and partnerships in a multi-polar world and by reforming multilateral institutions. The many issues raised by this challenging mission are discussed at length in El Aynaoui *et al.* (December 2023) and in Ishmael (October 2023) on the cases of South Africa, India and the Caribbean countries.

generation of a knowledge base, including the data needed to monitor, evaluate and guide policies, is essential for driving a knowledge-intensive and inclusive process of economic transformation. Success is within reach to the extent leadership's vision of a food secure country is implemented by competent administrations committed to the public good.

Key Messages for Policy Makers and Practitioners

Food Security and Agri-Food Policies in the New South

Chronic hunger in developing countries traps millions of people in a vicious circle of malnutrition and low productivity, a sobering contrast to the level of food security that has been achieved at the macro level in today's rich, industrialized countries. These rich countries experienced similar problems of widespread hunger and premature death when they were poor, two centuries or so ago.

So how did they achieve food security? The general answer is obvious. They raised productivity, incomes, and purchasing power to benefit all, but how more specifically? How did successful countries in the industrialized and developing world transition out of widespread hunger, malnutrition and food insecurity? Analyses of historical records show that these countries succeeded by breaking the vicious circle of malnutrition and low productivity.

Successful countries worldwide have broken this vicious circle by putting their agriculture firmly on the path of higher productivity growth, which then expanded and transformed the economy. Though country strategies differed, there are robust patterns as to what worked.

They included the following decisions by policy makers:

- 1. They chose peace and stability over violent conflict to address internal and external geo-political issues;
- 2. They invested in the sustained productivity of their agriculture, and in public goods and services, which expanded markets and trade (domestic and foreign) for smallholders, other farmers and agro-processors;
- 3. They also strengthened the social contract with their people by addressing short-term food security concerns, e.g., a social safety net, stable prices of basic staples;

Policy Center for the New South 13

- 4. They invested in human capital (e.g. health, education, training, people's resilience) to increase productivity and the ability to build income-earning assets;
- 5. To raise and mobilize the funds needed, they exploited opportunities to form political and trade alliances (domestic and foreign) and generate economy-wide pro-poor growth.

Policy makers succeeded because they inspired and were aided by competent and committed government administrations for decades. Investment in human capital, and in the data and knowledge base to guide policies and their implementation, is essential for policy makers to anchor their vision and sustain it through institutions inspired by the same mission.

With climate change, high levels of debt and lower global growth prospects, the challenge of achieving sustainable food security for impoverished millions in developing countries may seem impossible. However, the challenge was also daunting for today's food secure countries. Many had just experienced the devastation of war, which had deeply scarred their people and weakened the economy. They chose to invest in the future against large odds. While countries learned from each other, they also had to experiment, for there is no guaranteed pathway to success. The key is to stay the course, including staying flexible in the face of setbacks. Food security is a public good. It requires government, mission-driven and competent public institutions, the private sector and markets to work together.

Introduction

Everyone wants to be food secure, yet millions are not. The challenge of achieving food security for these millions of people is projected to become even more daunting, given global trends of: (i) demographic growth—an addition of nearly two billion to reach 9.7 billion by 2050; (ii) rapid urbanization—projected to reach 68% of the world's population by 2050; and (iii) climate change—with the possibly deleterious impact of warmer temperatures on human health, the frequency and severity of extreme water events such as droughts and floods and declining water quality, promoting the growth of harmful algae and bacteria. According to the FAO et al. (2023), some 3.1 billion, or around 42% of the global population, could not afford a healthy diet in 2021; some 2.4 billion or 29.6% suffered from moderate to severe food insecurity in 2022.

These millions are caught in the malnutrition-low productivity trap; e.g., women are more likely to suffer hunger than men; millions of children under age 5 suffer from stunting, wasting, and excess weight; rural adults are more afflicted (33%) than adults in peri-urban (28%) and urban areas (26%). Yet the fast-growing urban populations in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) and Southern Asia have some of the highest numbers of malnourished. With the already high percentage of slums in SSA's urban areas, these numbers are very concerning.² Hunger has been on the rise in Africa since 2010, and has risen in all sub-regions, going from 19.4% in 2021 to 19.7% in 2022, a higher figure than in any other region of the world (FAO et al., 2023).

In a world of plenty, why is there so much hunger and malnutrition? At an aggregate level, the answer is obvious. They are very poor; they cannot afford to buy the food they want. At a policy level, the answer is far from obvious. It is not clear how to eradicate extensive poverty in a sustainable and inclusive way.

Widespread and chronic hunger is decidedly not because food production grows arithmetically while population grows geometrically, as Malthus argued.³ In Malthus' view (1798), the number of mouths to feed will inevitably outstrip the capacity of the food system to satisfy the demand increase. Posterity has proven him wrong. As Sen

Policy Center for the New South 15

^{2.} WDI. Population living in slums (% of urban population) – Sub-Saharan Africa (2020) e.g., Botswana: 40%; Benin: 68%; Côte d'Ivoire: 53%; Ethiopia: 64%; Ghana: 33%; Kenya: 61%; Niger: 70%; Nigeria: 49%; Rwanda: 38%; South Africa: 24%; Sudan: 74%; Tanzania: 41%; Madagascar: 67%; Mozambique: 55%; and Zambia: 48%. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/EN.POP.SLUM.UR.ZS?locations=ZG.

^{3.} Thomas Malthus (1766-1834) was a cleric, scholar and a political economist. He first published his famous *Essay on Population* in 1798.

(1999)⁴ pointed out, world population has grown nearly six times since 1798, yet food output and consumption per head are much higher than in Malthus' time. He argued that "...[t]he focus has to be on the economic power and substantive freedom of individuals and families to buy enough food and not just on the quantum of food in the country in question." ⁵

The escape from hunger is one of the great freedoms we all want; a freedom which liberates us to live fuller lives, irrespective of our different cultural and historical backgrounds. This handbook is about what we can learn from how millions escaped the scourge of hunger, premature death and food insecurity.

In Section I, the book presents a current and historical overview of the problem of widespread hunger and premature death. After clarifying the three most commonly used concepts of food security, it presents an overview of policy approaches focused on how best to transform low-productivity agriculture, reduce widespread poverty and hunger, and achieve food security. Section II presents some key lessons from case studies. These analyze the struggles since the end of World War II of a wide array of countries in reducing poverty and achieving food security, to varying degrees of success. It concludes with an overview of the major areas of consensus and controversy.

^{4.} Amartya Sen (born November 3, 1933) received the Nobel Prize in 1998.

^{5. &}quot;What is crucial in analyzing hunger is the substantive freedom of the individual and the family to establish ownership over an adequate amount of food, which can be done either by growing the food oneself (as peasants do) or by buying it in the market (as the non-growers of food do)". (Sen, 1999: 161)

Section I

An overview of our hungry world and pathways to escape it

The developing world is burdened with widespread hunger

The scourge of chronic hunger and under nutrition: While most people in rich industrialized countries have "escaped hunger and premature death" (Fogel, 2004),6 this is not the case for millions of people in developing countries. The statistics are alarming. An estimated 9.2% of the world's population suffered from undernourishment in 2022, including roughly 122 million more in 2022 than in 2019, before the COVID-19 pandemic. About 29.6% (2.4 billion) of the global population suffered moderate to acute food insecurity in 2022, of which some 900 million (11.3% of the population) were severely food insecure. There was some progress in reducing hunger in Asia and in Latin America, but hunger is still on the rise in Western Asia, the Caribbean, and all sub-regions of SSA. Particularly alarming are the numbers of very young children and women seriously affected. An estimated 148.1 million (or 22.3%) of children under 5 years of age suffered from stunting (low height for age) in 2022; 45 million (or 6.8%) were wasted (low weight for height); 37 million (or 5.6%) were overweight. Stunting and wasting were more prevalent in rural areas, whereas excess weight was more of an issue in urban areas. Women are more affected than men in every region, although the gap narrowed significantly between 2021 and 2022. In 2022, 27.8% of adult women were moderately to severely food insecure, compared to 25.4% of adult men. 10.6% of women faced severe food insecurity compared to 9.5% of men (FAO, 2023). The extent

Policy Center for the New South 17

^{6.} The full title of this classic is *The Escape from Hunger and Premature Death, 1700-2100, Europe, America and the World.* Robert William Fogel (2004, Cambridge University Press). Robert William Fogel (July 01, 1926-June 11, 2013)

to which women and children are affected is particularly worrisome, as it means that today's hunger will cast a long shadow over the health, cognitive ability and productivity of the next generation.7

Lower global growth prospects exacerbate the burden of debt, persistent conflict and climate extremes: The challenge of achieving food security for the hungry billions is made even more daunting by the reduced prospects for global growth. Both industrialized and developing countries are projected to grow more slowly in 2024 and 2025 than in the decade preceding COVID-19, with a projected growth of 2.4% in 2024, rising to 2.7% in 2025, and one in every four developing countries poorer than before the pandemic. The global annual growth average for the 2010s was 3.1% (WBG, Jan 2024). The reduced prospects for growth are not surprising, given the succession of alobal conflicts and dislocations since the COVID-19 onslaught and the environment of accelerating climate change. First, the disruptions to the global supply chain in 2021 caused a widespread shortage of goods and services at the very time when pent-up demand from Covid was being felt, thereby undermining economic growth and employment. Then, on February 24, 2022, Russia launched its invasion of Ukraine (referred to as "special operations") by Russian President Putin, triggering escalating alobal prices for corn, wheat, and fertilizer and causing the most damage to the foodimporting nations in Africa. We are already in the third year of the Russia-Ukraine war. There was a brief ray of hope when the Black Sea Grain Initiative (BSGI) was signed on July 27, 2022. The BSGI eased the shortages until it was terminated on May 18, 2023. The shipments did help stabilize alobal prices of arain at USD 800/t (or GBP 620/t) from a peak of GBP 1,360/t. (Wintour, July 2023). The response of the financial authorities was predictable. Given inflationary trends, US Federal Reserve and European Central Banks raised interest rates to counter inflation: e.g., US Fed Fund rate rose to 5.5% (December 2023), ECB to 4.5 % (September 2023) and Bank of England to 5.25% (December 14, 2023). For highly indebted and fiscally constrained developing countries, EMDEs and especially LICs,⁸ these interest rate hikes are devastating, as government debt in the average LIC has grown by 30% of GDP to reach 67% of GDP (2022). Government debt

^{7.} As well stated by Dasgupta (1993): "The general effects of persistent undernourishment and infections vary widely, but they all result in an impaired life...In expectant mothers it affects the growth of the fetus, and therefore its health status (e.g., weight at birth) ... It affects the lactation performance of nursing mothers... affects brain growth and development...reducing the energy that children have for learning...Among adults, it diminishes their muscular strength, their capacity to do physical work, and their protection against a wide range of infectious diseases ... it brings marked psychological changes...[diminished] life expectancy."

^{8.} LICs are low-income economies; Emerging Market and Developing Economies (EMDEs). The World Bank country classifications are as follows. The EMDEs are: Argentina, Brazil, Chile, China, Colombia, Egypt, Hungary, India, Indonesia, Iran, Malaysia, Mexico, the Philippines, Poland, Russia, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, Thailand, Turkey, the United Arab Emirates and Ukraine. The LICs (2023) are: Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Benin, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Central African Republic, Chad and Comoros. Six of the eight LICs are in Sub-Saharan Africa.

has doubled since 2011 (World Bank Blog, June 2023). EMDEs are also in a tight spot with little substantial debt relief in sight (CGD, Blog post, November 2023). According to the World Food Program (WFP), the world is experiencing its worst food crisis in modern history, as long-standing conflicts and climate extremes in ten developing countries drive their people to the brink of famine⁹ (WFP, March 2023).

The many faces of food security and insecurity worldwide

At a personal level, the meaning of food security is obvious: Individuals and households around the world know the level of food security they want for themselves and their families: the ability to access (purchase and/or grow or rear) adequate and nutritious foods when they want them and the assurance that this access will continue. Anything less, even if temporary, is food insecurity. Food insecurity spans a whole spectrum, from mild, periodic worry about having adequate food to chronic and severe hunger. Irrespective of its severity, food insecurity is deeply worrisome, if not downright devastating, for anyone living constantly in such fear.

At the macro and policy level, three food security concepts prevail: The three main concepts of food security are very different and have led to different approaches and different impacts on food security. Their main features are presented graphically in policy papers PP 20-18 and 20-33, June and November 2020 [attached]: Selective Review of Food Security Policy Worldwide, Part I and II. They are:

- **a) The 1996 FAO concept:** Food security exists when all people, at all times, have physical, social and economic access to sufficient, safe and nutritious food to meet the dietary needs for a productive and healthy life.
- **b) Food self-sufficiency (FSS):** The ability of a region or country to produce enough food (especially staple food crops) without needing to buy or import additional food.
- **c) Food sovereignty (FSY):** "Food sovereignty is the right of peoples to healthy and culturally-appropriate food produced through ecologically sound and sustainable methods, and their right to define their own food and agriculture

Policy Center for the New South 19

^{9.} These ten countries are (the numbers in parentheses are millions of people): Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) (26), Afghanistan (19.9), Yemen (17), Syria (12), The Sahel (13 projected), South Sudan (7.7), Sudan (15.8), Somalia (6), Northern Ethiopia (5.5) and Haiti (4.7 projected). The WFP was created in 1963.

systems. It puts the aspirations and needs of those who produce, distribute and consume food at the heart of food systems and policies rather than the demands of markets and corporations." Declaration of Nyéléni,¹⁰ the first global forum on food sovereignty, Mali, 2007.

Key differences with major policy impact: The FAO concept requires that all four pillars of availability, access, utilization and stability exist simultaneously. It is holistic and demanding, referred to as FSH here. The utilization pillar of FSH rests on good nutrition. FSH does not specify how countries are to ensure that the four pillars exist simultaneously. The FSS and FSY are political-economic concepts that emphasize nationalism in agriculture, food trade protection and domestic agricultural policy formulation. FSY also opposes the power of multinational corporations that dominate global agriculture trade. Neither FSS nor FSY require that all individuals and households be adequately nourished at all times, or be free from the worry of acquiring such nourishment. This handbook adopts the FSH concept. It is obviously an ideal still to be achieved in many countries. In my view, it most closely resembles what we, as consumers who are net buyers of food, want.

How did today's high-income, industrialized economies "escape hunger and premature death"?

A selective overview of past achievements according to historians: The "escape from hunger and premature death did not become a reality for most ordinary people until the twentieth century" (Fogel, 2004). Life expectancy at birth increased dramatically over two centuries or so ago, between 1725 and 1900. It went from 32 to 48 to 76 years in England or the United Kingdom, from 26 (1750) to 46 to 77 in France and from 50 to 48 to 76 in the United States. Building on McKeown's work, and based on his extensive research on mortality in England and France (from around 1700 on), Fogel showed that adequate nutrition and use of more productive technologies interact synergistically and have been largely responsible for the growth in per capita income. The evidence shows that improved nutrition and use of more productive technologies must go in hand in hand to generate growth, essential for food security. Simply put,

^{10.} Nyéléni is the name of a legendary peasant woman from Mali who grew crops and fed her people well.

^{11.} Life expectancy at birth in high-income, industrialized countries since 2000 has continued to increase, albeit at a slower pace, reaching the mid-80s for women (2020s).

^{12.} Fogel was Nobel Laureate in 1993.

Fogel argued that the synergistic interaction of better nutrition and more productive technologies was key. Thus, "I have estimated that when labor input is adjusted for intensity (measured by calories), improved gross nutrition accounts for roughly 30 per cent of the per capita growth in Britain between 1790-1980" (Fogel, Nobel Lecture, December 1993). Fogel's argument about the key importance of improved nutrition is supported by the findings of other historians, including:

- The central importance of improved nutrition and living conditions in escaping hunger and premature death, thus lengthening life expectancy, was outlined in the mid-1950s by Thomas McKeown.¹³ The McKeown thesis was controversial (Colgrove, 2002) in that he downplayed the relative roles of public health measures, improved sanitation, vaccination and medical innovations in increasing life expectancy. McKeown showed that mortality was decreasing long before drugs were introduced for a whole series of diseases and continued to fall at much the same rate after their effective introduction. McKeown emphasized "care" over "cure".¹⁴
- Building on the contributions of McKeown and Fogel, Deaton's analysis (2013, 2015)¹⁵ of the key factors resulting in "the great escape" identifies several major societal forces, in addition to factors relating to productivity and nutrition. In particular, he identifies the Enlightenment,¹⁶ the Industrial Revolution, public health measures and education, and the germ theory of disease. He emphasizes that knowledge is key.
- Lindert and Williamson (1983) argued that during the Industrial Revolution, after 1820, English workers, namely farm labor, the middle group, artisans and white-collar workers¹⁷ experienced a rise in living standards, as shown by their increased

^{13.} Thomas McKeown (November 02, 1912- June 13, 1988), a British physician and epidemiologist, is considered the father of social medicine by Fogel and Deaton.

^{14.} One example McKeown used is the fall in mortality from tuberculosis in England and Wales between the 19th and 20th century, long before the introduction of the effective antibiotic Streptomycin in 1947 and the BCG vaccination in 1954. BCG is Bacillus Calmette-Guerin, a vaccination used against tuberculosis.

^{15.} Angus Deaton (born October 19, 1945) was awarded the Nobel Prize in 2015. The title of his Nobel Lecture was: "Measuring and Understanding Behavior, Welfare and Poverty".

^{16.} The Enlightenment, also known as the Age of Reason, was an intellectual and cultural movement which started in the 18th century. It emphasized reason over superstition and science over blind faith. Great thinkers, including John Locke, Isaac Newton and Voltaire, questioned accepted knowledge and spread new ideas about openness and religious tolerance, and exalted the spirit of investigation. The Enlightenment was a major turning point in Western culture and civilization.

^{17.} The workers are stratified from bottom to top: blue collar comprising farm labor (bottom 40%), middle group and artisans (labor aristocracy) and white collar (Lindert, Peter H. and Jeffrey G. Williamson, Feb 1983: Tab. 1)

earnings and longer life spans (except in Liverpool and Manchester). Despite the deplorable urban living conditions depicted by Engels (1845),¹⁸ the quality of life was improving in both urban and rural England.

• Floud et al. (2011) show that improvements in the nutritional status of the populations of England, Wales, continental Europe¹⁹ and the United States, sustained since around the 1700s, have been gradually increasing the height, capacity for work and life expectancy of successive generations in the West. Fogel calls this evolutionary process, whereby sustained improvements in nutritional status change the human body and its capacities (physical and intellectual), technophysio evolution, a transformative process unique to the human species. This evolutionary process is set in motion by the synergistic interaction between improving the nutritional status of the majority of the population and their use of more productive technologies. Such interaction has been a key enabling factor for the agricultural and industrial revolutions, whose exact timing may be hotly debated, but which all agree occurred roughly during the period of interest (Allen, 1999)²⁰ and ushered in the modern world of higher productivity and growth.²¹

The message from historians is clear: the "escape from hunger and premature death" shows that good nutrition is a fundamental investment in human capital and the very foundation of healthier, more productive and longer lives. Still, millions in the developing world are suffering from the scourge of hunger.

^{18.} Friedrich Engels, German philosopher, wrote *The Condition of the Working Class in England*. This book was based on his 1842-44 stay in Manchester, a city at the heart of the Industrial Revolution. It was translated from German into English and published in 1887. Engels was the eldest son of a successful German textile industrialist.

^{19.} The continental European countries included (depending on the years and available data) are (i) in the west: Denmark, France, the Netherlands, Germany, Switzerland; (ii) in the east: Poland, Russia; (iii) Nordic: Norway, Finland, Sweden, Iceland; (iv) southern/central: Greece, Italy, Croatia, Czech Republic, and Slovenia.

^{20.} The exact timing of the English agricultural (increased agricultural productivity and output) and industrial revolutions has been hotly debated by historians. Much of the debate is whether the agricultural revolution preceded or was contemporaneous with the industrial revolution. According to one school, referred to as revisionists, the agricultural revolution started way earlier, in the 16th and 17th centuries, a long time before the parliamentary enclosures of the late 18th and early 19th centuries. The standard view, reaffirmed by Overton, was that the agricultural revolution started during this latter period of enclosures, and attributed the enclosures as a major contributing factor. Allen, however, argues that there were two agricultural revolutions; the earlier one preceded the enclosures; and the latter occurred during the first half of the 19th century. For our purpose, what matters is that both agree that these two revolutions occurred and their period stretches over the same period of increased nutrition and longer life expectancy.

^{21.} Fogel and Costa (1997) argue that their research on the causes of the secular decline of mortality refer to this process in terms of "a synergism between technological and physiological improvements that has produced a form of human evolution that is biological but not genetic, rapid, culturally transmitted and not necessarily stable."

How can millions in the New South "escape hunger and premature death"?

A selective overview of current policy recommendations: This selective overview of prevailing policy recommendations focuses on how to transform low-productivity agriculture, reduce extensive poverty and hunger and achieve food security. For any country with a substantial agricultural sector (10% of GDP or more),²² these approaches view agricultural transformation as the gateway to becoming an industrialized, high income, modern economy.²³ They argue that promoting sustained agricultural productivity growth, especially among smallholders, is the first key step in the escape from hunger and premature death for millions. So, what should be done?

- **i. Africa can do it if...:** According to the African Transformation Report, Agriculture Powering Africa's Economic Transformation, Africa can build, within a generation, a modern agriculture that is competitive and sustainable, supports "a middle-class lifestyle for a growing number of farmers and powers Africa's transformation" (ACET, 2017).²⁴ The agenda for transformation includes policies which promote (a) secure land tenure rights and access to land; (b) use of yield-increasing technologies which include improved seeds, fertilizers and water control (through irrigation where needed); and (c) improved farm management techniques. The agenda emphasizes the importance of a supportive macroeconomic (including policies which have an impact on exchange rate, trade and the cost of credit) and regulatory environment for agricultural transformation.
- ii. Amacro level strategy promoting pro-poor agricultural transformation is critical: At the macro level, Timmer (2004) argues that governments should promote policies that "integrate the food economy into a development strategy that seeks rapid economic growth with improved income distribution [...] With such policies, economic growth and food security

^{22.} Excluded are city states like Singapore or oil exporting countries like Saudi Arabia.

^{23.} Timmer (2007) describes the five processes of structural transformation: (1) declining share of agriculture in the gross domestic product (GDP); (2) declining share of agriculture in employment; (3) rural-urban migration; (4) growth in the service and manufacturing sectors; (5) a demographic transition from high birth and mortality rates to low births and mortality rates, bringing about a reduction in population growth rates. A turning point is reached when the share of employment in agriculture has declined at a faster rate than the share of agriculture in GDP.

^{24.} ACET is the African Center for Economic Transformation. It is a pan-African economic policy institute supporting Africa's long-term growth through transformation. It was founded in 2008 by K.Y. Amoako, former UN Under-Secretary-General and head of UN Economic Commission for Africa (UNECA).

mutually reinforce each other." Sustained improvements in agricultural productivity and food security within a rapidly growing economy are not the results of the "free" market. Governments must work with markets to reach myriads of farmers and private entrepreneurs to integrate the food economy into the economy-wide growth process. Indonesia under President Suharto (1967-98) is a prime example;²⁵ but not only Indonesia but much of East and Southeast Asia as well, for example South Korea (1965-93), Malaysia (1970-95) and China (1980-98). More broadly, to improve food security in their rice-dominated economies marked by extensive poverty, post-WWII governments of East and Southeast Asia have moved on three fronts simultaneously: they pursue rapid growth at the macro level, poverty reduction through agricultural and rural economic growth, and rice price stability.

iii. Investment in agriculture, human capital and social protection are essential: Agronomists advocate a wide range of policies to help smallholders adopt more productive techniques, essential in an age of climate change.²⁶ The MAMO²⁷ Panel (2013) proposed sustainable intensification (SI) as a "new paradigm for African agriculture." SI assembles techniques of precision farming which can produce more with less inorganic fertilizers and pesticides, while preserving the natural resource base and adapting to climate change. According to Conway (2012), 28 sustainable intensification enables countries to meet the auadruple challenge of "higher productivity, improved stability, more resilience, and greater equitability." Government investment is required to promote agricultural research and extension services to assist smallholders in using mitigation and adaptation techniques essential for thriving under climate change. Sustainability concerns within the intensification paradigm are to be addressed through conservation agriculture (CA), reduced till on no-till (NT) farming, climate smart agriculture (CSA), landscape agriculture, eco agriculture and green agriculture.²⁹In addition to sustainable intensification, Denning includes

^{25.} After the Asian Financial Crisis (1997-98) which devastated Indonesia after 3 decades of substantial growth—in 1970, GNI per capita was USD 70, reaching GNI per capita USD 1,090 in 1997—it recovered in subsequent decades, to reach USD 4,580 (2022), becoming an upper middle-income country (WDI).

^{26.} More than 80% of the world's farms operate on less than 2 ha. Smallholders produce more than 80% of food in Asia and SSA. Worldwide, they produce around 35% of food, according to the FAO (2023).

^{27.} The Malabo Montpellier (MAMO) Panel.

^{28.} Sir Gordon Conway (July 06, 1938-July 30, 2023) was an agricultural ecologist, known as a leader in sustainable agriculture development. (Kwan, Aug 2023)

^{29.} These techniques of crop farming and livestock rearing reduce emissions per unit of output (SI) and focus on adaptation and mitigation to climate change (CSA) (Campbell *et al.*, October 2014).

investment in market infrastructure, post-harvest stewardship, healthy diets and social protection (Timmer, review March 2023).³⁰ Disseminating these techniques through digital technologies can assist Africa leapfrog its transformation process in a variety of ways, including assisting farmers in accessing research and extension services in a timely fashion, supporting precision agriculture of SI and accessing market information and efficient logistics in transport and storage, essential for integration in value chains, especially of high value crops (MAMO Panel, 2019). In an agricultural setting where the average age of farmers is 60 years (ACET, 2017), widespread digital use requires intense farmer training. Equally important, given the youth bulge and the need to make agriculture more profitable and hence more attractive to youth, they must also be trained to become digitally savvy. Thus, investment is needed not only in hard infrastructure (e.g., electricity, transport and communications), but also in human capital (e.g., health and education, specific training) and in social protection, as proposed by Denning.

- iv. The persistent neglect of agriculture must stop: Mellor (2017) argues that governments should invest in the African Union's target of 10% of annual government expenditures and undertake reforms, including abandoning inefficient fertilizer and cereal price subsidies. He advocates that governments should promote small commercial farming as the most effective way to reduce poverty and hunger. Typically, agriculture has suffered from gross underinvestment, in particular in agricultural research and extension which is the "core of modernization" (IFPRI book launch for Mellor (2017), February 2018). The persistent underinvestment in agriculture continues despite substantial empirical evidence that agricultural growth has had a greater poverty-reducing effect than growth in other sectors. Indeed, most African governments, except for Rwanda, had fallen far short of their Maputo pledge (2003) by the time of the Malabo pledges (2013) (NEPAD, 2016) and even in the period to follow (2022) (Kretschmer et al., 2022).
- v. Agriculture for Development (AfD) strategy—supply and demand dimensions:
 De Janvry and Sadoulet (2020) summarize AfD in five steps:
 (i) asset building of smallholders; (ii) green revolution; (iii) agricultural

^{30.} Glenn Denning is a professor of professional practice and founding director of the Master of Public Administration in Development Practice program at Columbia University's School of International and Public Affairs. His recent publication, reviewed by Timmer, is *Universal Food Security* (2023).

transformation; (iv) rural transformation; and (v) structural transformation. They emphasize the continued under-investment in agricultural development in agriculture-based economies with extensive poverty,³¹ despite the fact that it has repeatedly been shown to be poverty reducing and transformative. Supply-side approaches that can promote the uptake of potentially more productive and profitable technologies include improving access to information on technological and market opportunities; credit and affordable insurance and marketing infrastructure; and making local markets more competitive (e.g., by breaking the collusion of local traders). Can use of digitalization improve information dissemination (e.g., research and extension messages), timely market information and other forms of outreach? Demand-side approaches include assisting with contract development with downstream market agents in a value chain and, where product quality is critical (e.g., milk), having an independent certification body operating at early stages in the value chain. Can a strategic choice of contact farmers increase outreach? Promotion of value chain development linking smallholders to supermarkets and the agro-industry should include assisting them to acquire assets of land, capital, health, knowledge and skills and initiate the development of, or participation in, value chains and producer organizations with the capacity and bargaining skills to engage in contracting (De Janvry et al., 2020).

To sum up: A policy taxonomy for successful agricultural transformation: The policy taxonomy shows that the anti-agriculture bias pervasive in developing countries that adopted the industry-first, import-substituting strategy must be removed to create a supportive macro environment (IFPRI, 2017). The taxonomy first categorizes the policies broadly in terms of the sectors they target: the macro economy, the rural economy and agricultural markets. The four broad policy categories are public investment, price interventions, macroeconomic policies, and land and other institutional reform. These are then further disaggregated.³² The listing makes it clear that a holistic approach is being advocated.

^{31. &}quot;The modal SSA country spends only 5% of its public expenditures on agriculture [...] In 2011, only six countries (Swaziland, Cabo Verde, South Africa, Botswana, Namibia, and Mauritius) met the CAADEP research goal [of 1% of AG GDP]" (de Janvry and Sadoulet, 2020).

^{32.} The nine sub-categories are: (1) research and development (R&D) and extension; (2) rural infrastructure; (3) rural health and education, (4) anti-agricultural bias, (5) trade policy reform, (6) monetary and exchange rate policy, (7) economic diversification, (8) land reform and (9) credit (IFPRI, 2019).

Section II

What can the New South learn from the achievements and struggles of food secure countries on how to achieve food security for all in the 21st century?

Lessons from successes and failures worldwide: selected country experiences

Arthur Lewis argued for the centrality of increasing agricultural productivity in order to bring about industrialization: Case studies of different countries worldwide, at varying stages of development, show how the long struggle for food security at the macro level can be won or lost. Developing countries that have neglected agriculture in the early stages of development pay a heavy price in terms of low agricultural productivity, the inability to transform their agriculture and industrialize, and the persistence of widespread hunger and poverty. This is a robust pattern. Sir Arthur W. Lewis argued that increasing agricultural productivity is a sine qua non for industrial development.³³ Without the growth in agricultural production to keep up with growing urban demand due to industrialization, wages will rise and the terms of trade will move against the non-agricultural sector, thereby reducing private sector profits, savings and

^{33.} Sir Arthur Lewis (January, 23 1915-June 15, 1991) was knighted in 1963. He developed the dual sector model of development in 1954 called Economic Development with Unlimited Supplies of Labor. He received the Nobel Prize in 1979 which he shared with Theodore W. Schultz (April, 30 1902-Febuary 26, 1998).

investment and slowing the pace of industrialization and growth (Lele *et al.*, 2021). The country case studies below illustrate various dimensions of this process.

Raising agricultural productivity in a sustainable and inclusive manner is **essential but not sufficient:** An essential first step for escaping the hunger trap is to break the vicious circle of low agricultural productivity and poor nutrition, as demonstrated amply by Fogel's research. The three main concepts of food security and their impact on the pursuit of food security in sixteen countries at different stages of development were analyzed in two policy papers (PP 20-18, PP 20-33). "This great diversity of experiences shows that countries whose leadership promoted sustained agricultural productivity growth in the earlier decades of their development within a macro and trade framework of expanding markets (domestic and foreign), succeeded best in achieving FSH. They recognized the complex short- and long-term challenges of achieving FSH and did not reduce them to only domestic production of more basic staples". Countries that promoted food self-sufficiency as food security had precisely this narrow focus: they prioritized and subsidized basic staples but achieved neither food security nor food self-sufficiency. (See the discussion below on food self-sufficiency.) The country case studies show the trade-offs and complementarities in the decadeslong march towards food security. Ensuring any level of food security requires not only agricultural transformation but overall economic transformation as well. Agricultural transformation that raises the wages and economic opportunities of the poor and hungry over a period of decades is necessary, but far from sufficient. A successful economy-wide growth strategy must generate the investible resources required to fund investments, including those in human capital, social safety nets and the resilience and productivity of the entire system [See PP 20-18, June and PP 20-33, Nov].

Raising agricultural productivity to power successful agricultural transformation worldwide requires a robust set of five conditions: Successful agricultural transformation entails two simultaneous developments: (i) increases in productivity (output per unit of input variously defined) sustained over two to three decades at least; and (ii) sustained increases in income for the majority of farm/rural households. This concept of success has both a positive and a normative component. It is the kind of transformation a country needs to substantially reduce poverty and achieve food security for the majority. Only a minority of countries have succeeded in transforming their agriculture in this way. An analysis of countries at different stages of agricultural transformation—the minority of successful ones as well as those that show great

potential for success—exhibit a strong pattern of five conditions (Tsakok, 2011).³⁴ The five conditions, analyzed and illustrated in various country examples, and set out in five PBs in 2018 [Attach PB 18-22; PB 18-23; PB 18-29; PB 18-32; and PB 18-33], are:

- **1.** A stable framework of macroeconomic and political stability. Central and local governments are able to enforce peace and order.
- **2. An effective technology-transfer system.** Research and extension messages reach the majority of farmers; that is, the research messages are disseminated (extended) to farmers.
- **3.** Access to lucrative markets. The majority of farmers benefit from expanding markets of paying customers. It makes good business sense for these farmers to invest in agricultural and rural production.
- **4.** An ownership system including a system of usufruct rights that rewards individual initiative and toil. It is feasible for farm/rural families to gain monetarily from risk-taking and hard work.
- 5. Employment-creating non-agricultural sectors. As agriculture becomes more productive, its workforce must decline. If these workers do not find other jobs that pay as well as agriculture, farm poverty would simply be transferred to other sectors.

While these conditions may seem obvious, what is not so clear is how only a minority of governments have been able to maintain these over a period of decades. Only this minority of countries has achieved the "escape from hunger and premature death" for most of their populations. The major policy implication is that government investment in, and the delivery of, public goods and services over this period is essential in maintaining these conditions and successfully transforming poverty-ridden, subsistence agricultures.

Agri-food systems remain low productivity despite the abundant resources of mineral wealth—the resource curse in SSA: Case studies of Nigeria and Mozambique show the consequences of poverty and hunger due to the continued neglect of agri-food/agri-business systems in terms of investment and supportive policies for

Policy Center for the New South 29

^{34.} The countries analyzed in relation to the existence or non-existence of the five conditions are (in order of presentation in the book): England/UK in the 18th and 19th centuries; Japan from the Meiji Restoration (1868-1912) to the 1960s; American agriculture in 19th-20th century; Ireland; Portugal; the Republic of Korea; Taiwan, China; India; People's Republic of China; Indonesia; Malaysia; Tunisia; Brazil; Chile; Canada; Australia; New Zealand; Argentina; Ghana; Egypt; the Philippines; Mexico, and Morocco.

smallholders. In Nigeria, these systems suffer not only from the Dutch Disease³⁵ but also from widespread protectionist measures, vested interests and the poor management of Nigeria's sovereign wealth fund.³⁶ The heavy dependence on oil revenue in government budgets (federal and consolidated) and export earnings makes oil a curse rather than a blessing. Mozambique is also richly endowed—with plentiful land, water, mineral resources and a strategic position with a long coastline—but its agriculture is no better off. However, even during the years of stability and relatively high growth (1992-2015),³⁷ the FRELIMO Government (which has been in power since the peace agreement with RENAMO in 1992), 38 did not pursue a pro-poor growth strategy. In fact, income inequality, Gini coefficient at 0.47 in 2008 and increasing to 0.56 in 2014, makes Mozambigue one of the most unequal economies in Africa. This high level of income inequality is rooted (at least partly) in the political and economic disempowerment of the largely Muslim Makua population and other impoverished people of northern Mozambigue, in particular in Cabo Delgado, where the war of independence (1964-75) against Portuguese rule started.³⁹ Furthermore, annual expenditure on agriculture, (the sector where most of the poor live) was 4% of government expenditure, well below the 10% pledged by all African governments in Maputo in 2003. In this inimical policy environment, the prevalence of a low productivity, subsistence agriculture is predictable and widespread hunger is inevitable. As in Nigeria, relentless poverty exacerbates violent conflicts, ethnic and/or religious [Attach PB 41-22, June & PB 43-22, July].

Mauritius has no mineral wealth, but by drawing upon its political economy and institutional assets has transformed its agriculture and economy, virtually eliminating extreme poverty: At independence (1968), Mauritius was a monocrop island, completely dependent on trade preferences for its sugar. Its GNP per capita was then USD 260; it rose to USD 12.444 in 2019 in the pre-Covid period and fell to USD 10.360 in 2022, largely as a result of Covid. By the 2010s, Mauritius had diversified away from sugar into textiles manufactured in its Economic Processing Zone (EPZ since the

^{35. &}quot;Dutch disease" refers to an overvalued currency, consequent on a large influx of foreign exchange due to the export of a mineral resource; e.g., oil exports. This overvalued currency reduces the competitiveness of non-oil sectors and encourages competing imports as well.

^{36.} These points were also made by IMF: Nigeria selected issues, February 08, 2021.

^{37.} The primary drivers of this high growth were capital intensive megaprojects, which attracted substantial FDI.

^{38.} FRELIMO stands for Frente de Libertação de Moçambique, in Portuguese; in English, 'Liberation Front of Mozambique. RENAMO for Resistência Nacional Moçambicana; in English, 'Mozambican National Resistance. The first multi-party elections were held in 1994.

^{39.} Conflict in Northern Mozambique has worsened with the discovery (around 2010) of enormous gas reserves in the Rovuma Basin off the coast of Cabo Delgado; and is expanding as several foreign (regional and external) troops are being drawn in to counter the Islamic group al Shabab (also known as Ansar-al-Sunnah) (Aidi, Policy Center for the New South, May 2022).

1970s) and tourism. It also diversified its cane cluster into bagasse, molasses, vinasse⁴⁰ and bio-ethanol. It only promoted self-sufficiency for a wide range of vegetables and tropical fruits and imports around 77 % of its total food requirements, e.g., rice, wheat flour, milk, meat and temperate fruits. Sugar-dominated agriculture contributed to 22% of GDP at independence, and diversified agriculture to around 3.4% of GDP in 2013. However, success is not forever. Covid-19 hit Mauritius hard as poverty rose—at USD 5.5 per day at 2011 PPP line, poverty is projected to have increased from around 11% to 16% in 2020 and was still above 11% in 2023 (World Bank, April 2021).⁴¹ Mauritius had to remake itself from the 1980s on. By the 2020s, it has to remake itself again to adapt to climate change and a more competitive but fragmented global economy. This time around, it wants to rebuild itself as a knowledge-intensive, inclusive economy [Attach PB 37-21, Oct 2021; PB 10-23, Feb 2023].

The food self-sufficiency (FSS) approach sustainable with the increased **unpredictability and scarcity of water?** Both Egypt and Morocco have adhered to a food self-sufficiency (FSS) approach for well over 60 years in their agri-food policy. And yet Egypt, which was 70% self-sufficient in wheat in the 1960s, had become one of the largest wheat importers in the world by the 2020s. Egypt is "set to become the world's largest wheat importer [in 2023-2024...] and is projected to import 12 million tons of wheat up from 11.2 million the previous year" (The New Arab Staff, June 2023). In Morocco, despite the focus on FSS, as well as enormous investment in irrigation and through the Plan Maroc Vert (2008-18), rainfed cereals still occupy more than half of its arable land as well as its agricultural imports. (Abdelaaziz Ait Ali et al., 2022). Moreover, the FSS approach promotes water-thirsty crops—wheat, rice and sugar beet in Egypt and wheat, sugar and milk in Morocco.⁴² Both Egypt and Morocco are listed as water-stressed countries. 43 Thus, in Egypt, fresh water availability per capita per year was estimated at 570 m3 (2018), approaching the extreme water scarcity level of 500 m3 (WBG, November 2022). In Morocco, the equivalent has decreased from 2,650 m3 (1960) to 620 m3 (2020) (WBG, October 2022). The government of Egypt (GoE) has a long-standing food subsidy program, which has evolved over the years. Baladi bread has continued to be subsidized and, in 2023, it was available to

^{40.} Vinasse is a final by-product of bio-mass distillation, mainly from ethanol production from sugar and starch crops, or cellulosic material. Also called dunder, it can be used in fertilization and irrigation practices. However, excessive use can result in negative environmental outcomes.

^{41.} During the COVID lockdown, GDP contracted by 15.6% in 2020. Income inequality rose in the decade of the 2000s. The rise in income inequality was moderated by extensive public transfers. (World Bank: Mauritius Poverty and Equity Brief, April 2021)

^{42.} Water use (m3per T): wheat: 1450; sugar: 5000; milk: 6000. (Serghini, 2015: Tab 24)

^{43.} The level of structural water stress is below 1000 m3/per capita per year. (WBG, Oct 2022)

nearly 80% of Egypt's population (Rock-Singer, May 2023).⁴⁴ Morocco subsidizes soft wheat flour and sugar. 45 The FSS approach is costly in both fiscal and environmental terms.⁴⁶ With Covid-19, followed by multiple global shocks and low economic growth, both governments are fiscally strained. In addition to the reforms required to regain fiscal balance, both governments must urgently address how best to satisfy increasing urban demand for potable water as well as other increasing non-agricultural demands. In a world affected by climate change, increasingly unpredictable and seeing greater water scarcity as global warming increases, the FSS "business as usual" approach is being severely tested in these water-stressed countries. The PPs on Egypt and Morocco discuss what are at stake and how the FSS approach can be reconfigured in a way that increases both food and water security, while ensuring the prices for basic staples remain stable and facilitating the energy transition to renewables. Although the stakes are high, fundamental reforms for ensuring its food and water security in a water-scarce world are likely to meet with stiff opposition. It requires the forging of a new social contract between the people and their government, since access to basic subsidized food has become a time-tested social contract. [Attach PP 01/23, Jan; and PP 06/23, May]

Policies conducive or inimical to sustained agricultural productivity growth

How to promote fertilizer use for smallholder agriculture in SSA: The capital importance of soil fertility and its proper management for high productivity agriculture is widely recognized, as fertilizer was a key input in the green revolution (GR) that swept through Asia (mid-1960s to 1990s). Government leadership translated into substantial public support including infrastructural investments and input subsidies, new farming techniques for millions of smallholders using a package of high-yielding dwarf varieties (HYV) of wheat, rice, and maize, pesticides and herbicides, improved water control through irrigation and better market access. PB 19-35 shows how and why access to land tenure security and good water control remove two key structural constraints that

^{44.} By the 2010s, households holding ration cards were entitled to cooking oil, sugar, rice, and tea. (World Bank, 2010). By 2020s, Egypt had a conditional cash transfer program takaful, and an unconditional cash transfer program, Karama. (World Bank blog; Nov 2020) As of 2022, these cash programs covered about 16% of the population, or 17 million poor. (IFPRI Policy Brief, April 2023)

^{45.} In Morocco, the focus of FSS has been on "strategic" crops, namely wheat, sugar, vegetable oils, meat, and milk, all import substitutes. By 2023, only soft wheat flour (Farine Nationale de Blé Tendre) and sugar continue to be subsidized and protected. During the Covid crisis, gas for cooking and for irrigation was also subsidized.

^{46.} Just on subsidies, the GoE allocated around 24% of its budget to food and another 22.5% to petroleum and electricity. (Mohamed, Aug. 2023)

typically undermine efficient fertilizer use. These two factors were correctly emphasized by the Malabo-Montpellier (MAMO) Panel (2018). The Conference on Land Policy in Africa (2017) also showed the key importance of inclusive and equitable access to land, especially where youth is concerned. 47 The GR in Asia was a game changer: agricultural productivity increased and densely populated Asia averted a full-blown Malthusian catastrophe. GR adoption thus enabled many Asian countries to lay down the roots of their long journey towards agricultural and overall economic transformation. In order to solve the hunger problem in Africa, an African GR is essential. Increased and proper fertilizer (organic and inorganic) use has a key role to play, as emphasized by the Abuja Declaration (2006), which closely followed the Maputo Declaration (2003) and was reaffirmed and enlarged upon by the Malabo Declaration (2014).⁴⁸ To date, and despite fertilizer subsidies in many African countries, fertilizer use remains low—an average of 17-22 kg/ha versus an average of 146 kg/ha worldwide—with fragile soils across much of Africa, deficient in essential nutrients and organic matter, inevitably undermining yield growth (AGRA, 2019). This low fertilizer use is not surprising, given successful experiences in Asia and elsewhere, as discussed in two policy papers in 2019 [Attach PP 19/16 Sept. 2019; and PB 19-35, Oct 2019].

Fertilizer must be promoted as just one key link in a long chain of production and productivity: These PPs analyze why fertilizer alone is far from sufficient for increasing agricultural productivity: fertilizer is but one link, albeit a key one, in a complex system of production and marketing which incentivizes and enables farmers to be productive because they are profitable. Too often, African governments have expected too much from inorganic fertilizer alone. ⁴⁹ The strengths and weaknesses of subsidizing fertilizer at the cost of ignoring complementary public goods and services, essential in making the subsidies trigger an African GR, are well exemplified by the Malawi Farm Input Subsidy Program (2005-20). ⁵⁰ Maize yields and production did increase in the years they received the subsidy but the longer-term benefits in terms of soil fertility and yield

Policy Center for the New South 33

^{47.} ACET (2017) pointed out that the average age of farmers in SSA was 60 years old. The governments should therefore seek to attract Africa's youth when developing the agri-food sector.

^{48.} The Abuja Declaration for an African Green Revolution (2006) recommended fertilizer application reach an average of 50kg/hectare (2015) from an average of 15-17 kgha (AGRA, 2018). Today, average fertilizer application is still very low, averaging 22 kg/ha versus world average of 146 kg/ha (World Bank Blog, December 2022). The Maputo Declaration of the Comprehensive Africa Agriculture Development Programme (CAADP) committed African heads of State to two goals: 6 % annual growth in agricultural productivity and 10% of annual government expenditures to be allocated to promoting agricultural transformation.

^{49.} De Janvry and Sadoulet (2020: 6) also point out a lack of complementary inputs, which include lack of organic fertilizer for soil texture and lime for soil acidity, excessively high risks, and high transaction costs to reach markets.

^{50.} The Malawi FISP was once lauded as a model for the rest of Africa. Malawi, which had suffered from chronic food deficits, had bountiful harvests in 2006 and 2007. However, longer term impacts on maize production, sustainable intensification and soil fertility increases are questionable.

increases did not materialize⁵¹ (IFPRI, 2010). In addition, the opportunity costs in terms of foregone complementary investments are high. Thus, although subsidies helped the spread of improved maize seeds over large parts of SSA, yield growth was low, and low and inefficient fertilizer use has persisted. The hoped-for "revolution" in maize production did not take place. While repeated evidence shows that the promotion of fertilizer cannot be viewed as a "magic bullet",⁵² it is also true that there is no one-size-fits-all fertilizer policy and finding an effective balance among complementary inputs is far from automatic.⁵³ [See PP 19/16 Sept. 2019; PB 19-32, Oct 2019, and Attach PB 19-35, Oct 2019].

Promoting regional market access to millions: Africa has recently embarked on the implementation (since January 2021) of the African Continental Free Trade Area (AfCFTA).⁵⁴ Full implementation, expected to take place over a period of decades, promises to be a game changer. For an Africa battered by Covid-19, and by the multiple global crises since then, the promises of an agricultural and economy-wide transformation through regional market integration could not have come at a better time. Insights from similar experiences of the EU, the ASEAN and, to a lesser extent, MERCOSUR, have yielded both positive and cautionary lessons.⁵⁵ However, these lessons are from different models of regional market integration that are still being tested, in the context of a world in turmoil and suffering the effects of climate change. [Attach PP 14-21, Aug, 2021]

Positive lessons

All benefitted (though to varying degrees) from vastly expanded trade. Fundamental
to their success, they replaced armed conflict with negotiation and economic
integration made possible by peace. For example, Europe was devastated by

^{51.} Two complementary inputs that were missing: (1) improved maize seed varieties; and (2) the loss of soil nutrient due to continuous monocropping. (IFPRI, 2020)

^{52.} AGRA (2019) also argued for a holistic approach (p 151).

^{53.} For example, in Punjab, the Government of India (GoI), has been promoting a package of subsidized inputs since the mid-1960s. But now, too much fertilizer is used with detrimental environmental and output consequences. Moreover, the politics of subsidies make it very hard for the GoI to change course. In China, though fertilizer was not subsidized, farmers' use of fertilizers was excessive, undermining environmental sustainability. (For detailed discussion, see PP 19/16 Sept. 2019.)

^{54.} The AfCFTA was signed by 44 of 55 member states in Kigali, Rwanda, on March 21, 2018. As of March 2023, nine countries have yet to ratify the Agreement: Somalia, South Sudan, Sudan, Eritrea (has not signed the Agreement), Madagascar, Benin, Liberia, and Libya (African Union, Theme of the Year 2023: Acceleration of Afcfta Implementation).

^{55.} MERCOSUR was the 6th attempt at regional market integration in Latin America. The first was under no other than the famous liberator, Simon Bolivar (July 24, 1783-Dec 17, 1830) in 1826. For details, see PP 19/16 Sept. 2019.

World War II when its visionary leaders (six founding members)⁵⁶decided in 1957 to promote peace and prosperity through market integration. Similarly, visionary leaders (five founding members)⁵⁷in Southeast Asia decided to pursue peace and prosperity through negotiation and regional market integration, instead of resorting to military force to settle conflicts, a strategy they feared would make the region more vulnerable to balkanization by external world powers.

- Furthermore, although the EU and the ASEAN represent two different models of regional market integration, each succeeded in substantially improving the income, productivity and food security of their peoples because they successively increased the scope of free trade agreements among member countries. As discussed in PP 14-21, they both started out on a modest scale but expanded over the decades (in membership as well as sectors involved), as the broad-based economic benefits of expanded trade materialized.
- Their success also owed much to substantial injections of investment from outside the region, as well as fundamental reforms that deepened and facilitated trade. In the early years, the reconstruction of Europe received a major economic boost from America's injection of USD 15 billion under the Marshall Plan (1948-52; the equivalent of USD 114 billion in 2020). In Southeast Asia, the economic boost came primarily in the form of FDI (1950s-80s) by fast-industrializing Japan, South Korea, Taiwan, and Hong Kong, which were seeking more labor-intensive modes of production as they graduated to more capital-intensive manufacturing.
- They undertook structural reforms. In the EEC, these included the Common Agricultural Policy (1962), which was a major engine driving the transformation of EU's agri-food sector. The CAP was, however, only one component of the economic reconstruction and recovery programs targeting the entire economy. In the ASEAN, with the adoption of the GR in the mid 1960s-90s, agricultural policy transitioned from taxation to neutral to subsidization of an export-oriented agriculture. A more productive and higher-value added agriculture contributed to strengthening "Factory Asia" in a region known for high growth with equity.

^{56.} The six founding members of the European Economic Community (EEC) were Belgium, France, Italy, Luxembourg, The Netherlands and West Germany. They signed the Treaty of Rome in 1957. Over several decades, the EEC has been enlarged and restructured, becoming the European Union (EU) in 1993, and expanding its membership to 27 countries by the 2000s. The UK left (BREXIT) in Jan 2020.

^{57.} The five founding members of the ASEAN are Indonesia, Malaysia, The Philippines, Thailand, and Singapore. The foreign ministers of these countries created the ASEAN on Aug. 08, 1967 in Bangkok, choosing cooperation to promote peace and prosperity for the region, and negotiation to resolve regional conflicts. They were concerned that external world powers (e.g., USA, the Soviet Union) would use their intra-regional conflicts to balkanize the region. By 2010, the ASEAN Free Trade Area (FTA) included China (2005), South Korea (2007), Japan (2008), India (2010), Australia and New Zealand (2010).

Cautionary lessons

- The path of high protectionism, including substantial subsidization, adopted by the CAP undermined the competitiveness of agricultural commodities in developing countries, thereby damaging millions of smallholders. Furthermore, due to the budgetary burden imposed, the EU has been under constant pressure to cut back and restructure the subsidies.
- Although MERCOSUR countries did benefit from expanded trade and reduced political tensions during the brief period from 1991-98, the expansion of intra-MERCOSUR trade was undermined by several factors. First, there was continual domestic turmoil in member countries, for example, Venezuela becoming a failed state in 2014, the high volatility of recurrent boom-and-bust cycles in Argentina, which continued into 2023,58 and the recurrent political crises in Paraguay.59 Second, Argentina, a key member of MERCOSUR, only partially implemented most of the articles of the Treaty of Asuncion. This seriously weakened the free trade and market integrating aspect of the Treaty. Thus, of the eleven policy provisions of the Treaty, only two were implemented and even those two only partially so. The two provisions implemented related only to the mobility of goods and of capital.⁶⁰ Third, although Argentina substantially reduced tariff barriers, it imposed temporary tariff barriers (TTBs) of anti-Dumping (AD) and safeguards (SG) against other member countries, most notably against Brazil, the largest member. Fourth, Brazil's substantial devaluation of its currency, the Real, in 1998-99, seriously impaired Argentina's competitiveness.⁶¹ Not surprisingly, given these various structural problems, members sought to emphasize their global trade instead.

_

^{58.} Volatility of Argentina's economic experiences: boom 1991-98; bust: 1999-2001; boom: 2003-11; bust: 2012-17. Pronounced volatility and recurrent crises have characterized Peronist Argentina, which chose, in November 2023 a non-Peronist, a radical libertarian, Javier Milei, who vowed to transform the crisis-prone Argentina he inherited. In 2023, Argentina was experiencing a 140% inflation, and international debt default (Sabatini, Chatham House, November 2023). Argentina's structural vulnerabilities run deep; e.g., a macro system prone to "large dual fiscal and current account deficits, [...] weak market institutions [...] which reduce productivity and business opportunities, [...] significant government red tape for enterprises, [...] weak and non-professional bureaucracies, no access to international financial markets, extensive foreign exchange and price controls, large and regressive subsidies on transport, and energy" (WBG, March 2019). The economy contracted by 1.6% in 2023 and real GDP is expected to contract by an additional 2.8% in 2024. Argentina has started implementing a stabilization program with the IMF (World Bank, Overview, April 2024).

^{59.} Paraguay had political crises in 1996, 1999, 2012. Its GNI per capita was USD 5,540 (2020) and USD 5,920 (2022) Atlas Method. Source: World Development Indicators (WDI)

^{60.} Omitted from implementation were critical policy provisions with respect to labor mobility, monetary and exchange policy, tax policy, industrial policy, unfair trade practices, regional development and research and development. For more discussion, see PB-14/22, March 2022: The experience of the Argentine Republic—Market Integration within MERCOSUR and with Other Global Partners: Insights for AfCFTA countries?

^{61.} Note that this devaluation was in violation of one of the policy provisions of the Treaty, namely that member nations were to harmonize their exchange rate policy.

China emerged as MERCOSUR's biggest trading partner by the 2010s.

Six case studies analyze the socio-economic and food security situation of several countries at an inflection point in their development trajectory, and argue that the option of market integration offered by the AfCFTA and global trade has the potential to transform their economies, including their agri-food sector. However, they must have the leadership and long-term commitment necessary to undertake and monitor the required reforms. The case studies discussed are South Africa, Mauritius, Argentina, Uruguay, Rwanda and Madagascar [Attach PB 38-21; PB 39-21; PB 14-22; PB 16-22; PB 51-22; and PB 64-22].

Use of Genetically Modified Organisms (GMOs) - promising or problematic for a productive and resource-saving agriculture? The power of bioengineering to produce crops with desired traits, such as tolerance to insects and drought, even with higher nutritional value, would seem to be the "magic bullet" for solving the hunger problem.⁶² Given this power, all countries with widespread hunger should embrace GMOs. However, this is definitely not the case. GMOs are the subject of fierce and seeminaly irreconcilable controversies in rich and developing countries alike. For proponents of GMOs, they are the answer to food scarcity in a world affected by climate change and dwindling resources. For the opponents, they harm human health, bio-diversity and the environment. Since GMOs were first commercialized in the United States in the mid 1990s, the increasing controversy around their use illustrates the importance of public trust in specific sources of information, when the scientific pros and cons involved in any product are complex and difficult for lay people to understand. Trust in governments, industry and even the scientific community has eroded over the decades. 63 Repeated consumer surveys from around the world show that most people understand little about GMOs but doubt that they are good for human nutrition and health or environmental sustainability. Even in China, which has invested heavily in the development of GMOs since 1988 (e.g., corn, soybeans and cotton, and a variety of horticultural crops), consumer distrust has increased after infamous food adulteration scandals [Attach PB 21-02, Jan 2021; PB 21-06, Feb 2021, Part I and II]..64

Policy Center for the New South 37

^{62.} The first major bio-engineered field crops in the United States are alfalfa, corn (maize), sugar beet, soy bean, golden rice and cotton. GMOs in fruits and vegetables include apples, potatoes, sweet corn, squash, tomatoes, and Hawaiian papaya.

^{63.} Many consumers believe that agri-food multinationals are too powerful and that they influence the opinions of scientists.

^{64.} Between 2003 and 2014, adulteration scandals totaled over 9000. One of the most infamous was the Sanlu melamine milk powder scandal that claimed thousands of victims, including 54,000 babies requiring hospitalization.

Increasingly powerful bio-engineering is here to stay: Despite controversy, bioengineering technology has continued to make huge advances, for example CRISPR-Cas9, a precise gene editing tool with multiple applications, enables scientists to rewrite the genetic code of almost any organism.⁶⁵ If Africa wants to harness the power of this technology to transform its agriculture, Masahela et al., (2023) argue that it should consider "a coordinated policy and regulatory guidelines across the fields of biotechnology". This is particularly important as Africa has recently embarked on its regional market integration process through the AfCFTA, and since Africa wants to continue trading with both the USA and the EU,66 which have very different approaches to GMOs. As of 2023, Africa is a patchwork of different frameworks. South Africa, 67 Kenya, Nigeria, Eswatini, Ethiopia, Ghana, Malawi, Mozambique and Sudan have all commercialized Bt cotton.⁶⁸ Based on worldwide experience of the importance of gaining consumer trust in GMOs if producers want to increase their use, the AU should give the utmost attention to disseminating scientific, evidence-based information on GMOs targeted at consumers when formulating an Africa-wide regulatory framework for the use of biotechnologies.

Policies that increase or undermine resilience to shocks that impact food security

Roots of resilience? Poverty and food security in Brazil under dual shocks: Brazil's experience of the double shock to the economy highlight the critical importance of preparedness –fiscal and institutional—for strengthening the resilience and food security of the poor and vulnerable. The year 2020, when it was struck by both COVID-19 and an oil price collapse, was disastrous for Brazil. When these two shocks hit, Brazil's economy had already been weakened by several years of recession since 2015. This period was preceded, fortunately, by a substantial reduction in poverty, during the "golden decade" of 2003-13. However, poverty was still widespread, although very

^{65.} CRISPR stands for Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats. Dr. Jennifer Doudna (UC Berkeley) and Dr. Emmanelle Charpentier (Max Planck Unit for Science and Pathogens, Berlin) won the 2020 Nobel Prize for chemistry. The first clinical trials began in 2019.

^{66.} The EU seems to be considering loosening its rules regarding new genetic technologies (NGT) in plant breeding, as indicated by the decision at the meeting of the European Parliament's environment committee on January 24, 2024 (Foote, Jan 2024).

^{67.} In Africa, South Africa has the largest acreages in maize, soybean and cotton.

^{68.} Bt stands for Bacillus Thuringiensis, a soil-swelling bacterium. The insertion of Bt into plants causes them to produce insecticidal proteins which are effective at killing some of the most injurious caterpillar pests of cotton.

unequally distributed by regions and race.⁶⁹ Moreover, Brazil's economy has exhibited low total factor productivity (TFP) growth for decades, 70 despite the fact that its dualistic agriculture has been an economic powerhouse.71 In addition, Brazilians have paid an enormous price for President Bolsonaro's (January 2019-December 2022) skepticism of the seriousness of the COVID-19 threat: a heavy toll of more than 600,000 deaths, including thousands that could have been avoided (Canineu et al., October 2021). Despite all these negative circumstances, the resilience of the poor and the vulnerable was substantially strengthened, partly by the progress made during the "golden decade", partly by the social insurance and protection programs that connected them to fiscal assistance. The "golden decade" was powered by the commodity supercycle, as Brazil is a major exporter of crude oil, iron ore, soybeans, raw sugar, poultry and bovine meat. During this period, Brazil expanded formal employment and eliminated poverty for nearly 25 million people as formal employment remained the main path out of poverty. Income inequality was also reduced. The commodity boom enabled the government to increase its fiscal space and expand its spending on education, health and pensions. Brazil already has two famous conditional cash transfer (CCT) programs to assist the poor by investing in their education and health: the Bolsa Escola Program (BEP), which had been in place since 1995, and the *Bolsa Familia Program* (BFP). President Lula de Silva (2003-10) expanded and consolidated several CCTs and BEPs under BFPs (federal since 2003). Access to health services was also expanded under the Systéma Único de Saude (SUS) and other social and rural pensions. The bottom 40% benefited from the economic boom and the social programs. In addition, unemployment insurance protects the formally employed in all quintiles and includes the Auxilio Emergencial (AE) to assist the informally employed. In contrast to what happened elsewhere in Latin America, poverty decreased in 2020 thanks to AE and other social programs (WBG, 2022). Brazil's experience clearly shows that preparedness by the state is critical for building resilience—preparedness in terms of fiscal resources and the institutional structures needed to reach the poor and vulnerable. The power of these fiscal transfers can be seen in the rise of poverty and food insecurity as soon as the government

Policy Center for the New South 39

^{69.} Thus, moderate poverty was 14% and 17.8% in the north and northeast regions respectively while it was 3.4% and 4.1% in the south and southeast regions respectively. In rural areas, moderate poverty was 20.3% (2014); whereas it was 5.1% in urban areas. However, Brazil's urban population makes up some 85% of the total population (2015) and 60% of the poor live in urban areas. The majority of the poor are Afro-Brazilians. The indigenous peoples have the highest rates of extreme poverty. (World Bank Group, May 2017).

^{70.} The only exception is the high TFP growth since the 1970s, in only the largest (1000ha +) and smallest (0-5 ha) farms but not in the majority of farms, which are mid-sized (20-200 ha) (See PB 07-21, March 2021 for a more complete discussion).

^{71.} Brazil's agriculture is an economic powerhouse: it has become the world's largest producer of sugar cane, coffee, tropical fruits and orange juice. It is a major producer of cotton, cocoa and tobacco, and home to the world's largest commercial cattle. Brazil is the largest exporter of soybeans (next to the United States) and the world's second largest producer of GMOs—soybeans, maize, and cotton. And yet, primary agriculture is only around 4.5% of GDP, but with agro-industry, the combined sector contributes to around 25% of GDP.

curtailed these transfers in 2021 (WBG, 2022) [Attach PB-07/21, March 2021].

Brazilian resilience viewed within the Social Capability Approach to explaining resilience to economic shrinking: The Social Capability Approach (Lund University, Resilience to Economic Shrinking) posits that five interrelated social capabilities are crucial for building resilience to shocks resulting in economic downturns. These are:

- i. Inclusiveness or broad-based economic growth;
- ii. Engagement in more complex and transformative economic activities;
- iii. Generation of social arrangements to resolve conflicts;
- iv. The state's autonomy against vested interests;
- v. The state's accountability in delivering public goods (Andersson, 2018).

These social capabilities are not viewed as prerequisites to resilience; rather they can and should be enhanced in the development process, in addition to the focus on growth. When viewed within this framework, Brazil's short-term resilience was strengthened during the "golden decade" when economic growth was inclusive, as well as equityand poverty-reducing. Also, the state strengthened institutional mechanisms to deliver public goods and services to the poor and vulnerable. Longer-term resilience in Brazil will require much more: namely sustained productivity growth, which has faltered.⁷² Canuto et al. (March 2024) argue that if Brazil wants to break out of the middle-income trap it is in, it needs to raise its productivity growth by embracing structural reforms to make it a more open and competitive economy, capable of diversifying into more complex products. According to them, Brazil needs to fight "productivity anemia [... and public sector bloat." It is interesting to note that many of the reforms called for, such as breaking up monopolies and leveling the playing field, reducing corruption⁷³ and barriers to entry, and building human capital and capacity to benefit all segments of society, including women, would also increase its resilience against shocks and shrinking, according to the Social Capacity Approach. After Lula won his second presidency in 2023, the world is watching to see whether Brazil has the leadership and commitment to undertake the deep reforms necessary to forge a path of sustained

^{72.} In the 1990s and 2010s, the contribution to productivity growth that would come from structural transformation was negative. Labor did leave agriculture, but it went to services that had in some areas even lower productivity than in agriculture. Over 1990-2023, the average TFP growth for Brazil was negative: -0.9%. (Canuto et al.: 26, 40)

^{73.} It is alleged that the Brazilian Supreme Court's investigative order of Transparency International (TI) is a retaliation against TI for its CPI 2023 for Brazil: Rank 104/180; Score: 36/100. (Transparency International, February 6, 2024). For comparison, the least corrupt country is Denmark, with R: 1; and S: 90; most corrupt is Somalia: R: 180; S: 11 (2023) (Corruptions Perception Index, 2023).

productivity and inclusion.74

War and high food inflation—the Russia-Ukraine War highlights the strengths and weaknesses of Morocco's approach to food security: Food self-sufficiency has been the hallmark of Morocco's approach to achieving food security since independence (1956). Successive governments have invested heavily in building dams and irrigation infrastructure, and protecting "strategic" commodities.⁷⁵And yet, when the Russia-Ukraine war broke out in Feb 2022, Morocco was not food self-sufficient.⁷⁶ Instead, it was vulnerable to the high food inflation trigaered by the war because it imported nearly half of its cereal imports from Russia (17%) and Ukraine (32%). It was far from self-sufficient in one of its most important "strategic" commodities: soft wheat flour.⁷⁷ The combination of successive droughts (2019-20, 2021-22), the pandemic (2020) and the war-triggered food inflation (2022) highlighted a key problem with the FSS approach in a water-scarce, "small"⁷⁸ country—it is very costly in financial and economic terms. In any case, a country can achieve any level of FSS if costs were not a concern, but costs are a concern. Fortunately, Morocco had the funds and the institutional mechanisms to deliver its subsidies on soft wheat flour, sugar and cooking gas⁷⁹ and maintained macro stability in a region in turmoil. The Total Compensation Fund spent was estimated at 2.6% of GDP (2022).80 Guaranteeing stability is a strength of Morocco's FSS but it is not food security. Although extreme poverty has been virtually eliminated in Morocco, the "subjective" poor were estimated at 45% (about 17 million) of the population (2007-14) (WBG, Jan 2019).81 With such limited achievements from its costly FSS, its government budget under strain and a high public debt, and given that water scarcity is an increasing threat under climate change, this latest crisis is an opportune time to fundamentally reconsider its food security approach. In the Morocco of the future under climate change, the nexus of food-water-energy security will have to be achieved simultaneously—a major challenge. Indeed, the New Development Model

Policy Center for the New South 41

^{74.} Such a path is discussed in *The Brazil of the Future: Towards Productivity, Inclusion and Sustainability* (World Bank, 2023).

^{75.} Morocco's dualistic agriculture has also benefitted from decades-long tax exoneration. The large farmers are the main beneficiaries.

^{76.} Since the structural adjustment programs of the 1980s, Morocco has replaced the goal of FSS with Food Sovereignty. However, the policies regarding "strategic" commodities are similar.

^{77.} The other "strategic" food commodities are sugar, vegetable oils, meat and milk.

^{78. &}quot;Small" in the trade sense: Morocco is a price taker on world food markets, not a price maker. A "large" country is a price maker for internationally traded commodities.

^{79.} Cooking gas is also considered a basic necessity for poor households.

^{80.} To address other pressing demands, the total cost is estimated at 3.7% of GDP (2022).

^{81.} The "subjective" poor are those who consider themselves poor, such as unemployed youth, informal wage workers, and women (primarily urban). Rural "subjective" poverty was estimated at 47%-54% of the population, and urban at 39%-40% (2007-14). Some 44 % of the middle class consider themselves poor (WBG, Jan 2019).

(NDM, 2021) of his Majesty King Mohamed VI is calling for such a review, as family farming (smallholders) is to be integrated with an "efficient, food logistics platform [...] and downstream agro-industrial value chains." Given the new focus, the NDM is calling for a reassessment of the priority at any cost placed on "strategic" food commodities [Attach PB 34-22, April 2022].

So, what does it take to achieve food security in our turbulent world? - Consensus and controversy

Conclusion

The "escape from hunger and premature death" for millions in the minority of highincome industrialized economies is one of humanity's greatest achievements. The scourge of hunger and premature death for millions in low- and middle-income countries is one of humanity's greatest tragedies, all the more so since it is largely avoidable.

How the escape can be achieved: The majority view is that this scourge can be defeated by breaking the stranglehold of poor nutrition and hunger that is widespread in countries with low agricultural productivity and stagnant agricultures by using more productive technologies in agriculture. The policy question is how to break the vicious circle between poor nutrition and low agricultural productivity and low production. The main messages are that governments must invest in making more productive and climate resilient technologies accessible to and profitable for smallholders, who represent the majority of farmers. To do so requires not only providing financial resources but also creating and maintaining a conducive environment, both economic and institutional, over a period of decades, to help farmers adopt these technologies. More broadly, governments must balance the urgent demands of the short term for crisis management, stability and social protection, with the demands for long-term, inclusive and resilient growth that will break the stranglehold of widespread hunger (Timmer, 2015). The challenging task of achieving food security for all, called the

"mandate of heaven"82 in East Asia, cannot be left to "free" markets. It is a public good, the very foundation of a thriving society.

Major controversy surrounds the question of how best to implement these measures in specific contexts: There is considerable controversy on how best to implement policies in specific geographical, geo-political and institutional settings. This controversy shows that the struggle for food security is tantamount to choosing sound, long-term development strategies. Recurrent controversy centers around:

- 1. Finance for investing in agriculture: How much is enough, how should funds needed be raised and how should they be spent in effective ways? This is a fundamental issue since the investment must be sustained for decades at least. A continuing issue in Africa is the inability of most governments to allocate 10% of their annual budgets to developing agriculture, even though this is the amount agreed upon repeatedly by all African governments. More generally speaking, it is a demanding balancing act deciding how much to allocate to agricultural transformation in the long term, versus developing social safety nets to strengthen resilience and food security in the shorter term.
- 2. Choice of agricultural technologies: The majority view advocates sustainable intensification, adapted to climate change. However, is agriculture that uses insecticides, pesticides and other inorganic inputs (e.g., industrial agriculture as in the United States) destroying our health and environment? (Food Print, 2024) A vocal movement claims this to be the case and argues that organic, farming without the use of GMOs, is the way to safeguard human health and environmental sustainability. At a time when agricultural technologies and farming worldwide must adapt to climate change, including contributing to decreasing GHG emissions, many view the debate surrounding agricultural technologies as a matter of survival for the planet. Whether reliance on organic farming alone is sufficient to provide plentiful food for all is still to be proven. After all, with "industrial" agricultural techniques, long-term grain prices (wheat, maize, corn, rice) fell between the 1950s and the 2000s (Timmer, 2015), but there is no such evidence for organic foods.
- **3. Input subsidies, especially for fertilizer:** Fertilizer subsidies are favored by politicians. However, they are often criticized for not contributing to long-term soil fertility or increased agricultural productivity in policy environments that are missing other complementary factors to make them productive and profitable. The opportunity cost is high, especially as subsidies often end up mainly benefitting

^{82.} The "Mandate of Heaven" is (tian ming), literally, order from heaven in Chinese. Emperors in China had to keep this mandate to stay in power. They can be overthrown if they failed to do so. This concept and its responsibilities on rulers are rooted in Confucian philosophy.

well-off farmers and not poor smallholders. The debate over fertilizer subsidies is an integral component of a larger debate on how best to spend scarce funding for agriculture.

- 4. Access to and enforceable—property and usufruct—rights to land: For farmers, land is a key production asset in terms of access and tenure security, including security of usufruct rights. However, millions of smallholders still labor under tenuous access and tenure security conditions. These conditions work against their ability or the incentive to invest long term in the fertility of their soils and the profitability of their farming enterprises. Despite the agreement in principle that these unfavorable conditions should be eliminated, how best to end them for smallholders continues to be an explosive socio-political issue, especially in many formerly colonized countries, where land continues to be inequitably distributed, communal tenure is common and land administration is weak.
- **5. Farmers' access to and efficiency of water use:** With climate change and increasing non-agricultural uses of water due, for example, to urbanization, industrialization and population growth, the defining issue is becoming that of how best to improve water access and control in primarily rainfed and water-scarce agriculture. This is a complicated issue, given the financial constraints involved coupled with the need to decarbonize.
- **6.** The focus on agriculture itself and on the smallholders who make up the majority of its workforce: Dercon argues that "low productivity agriculture is a dead end [...] We need to get away from that fixation on smallholders and focus on a development model that actually improves livelihood opportunities" (Kusters, 2022). The debate is often about focusing on smallholders instead of larger farmers as the most effective way to reduce poverty and hunger in countries where agriculture is still important (contributes 10% or more to GDP). Notable advocates against the widely held view that transforming smallholder agriculture is essential for reducing poverty and hunger and transforming the entire economy include Paul Collier, Stefan Dercon, Douglas Gollin and Adrian Wood (Lele *et al.*, 2021).

The "escape from hunger and premature death" for millions is the challenge of our times. The continued comfort of the minority may well depend on meeting this challenge. Our world is in turmoil, with global growth prospects lower again and many governments in developing countries either highly indebted, fiscally constrained, or under pressure to deal primarily with immediate issues of instability. With so much "noise" from ongoing crises, the need to invest long term in a slow growing sector may sound like an impossible challenge for individual governments to conquer. Many governments that have successfully set their agricultures on a high productivity and

inclusive path have addressed such challenges by strengthening their social contract with people and responding to their short-term food security concerns. The measures implemented include the development of a social safety net and the stabilization of staple food prices.

Yet can developing countries with widespread hunger continue to neglect agriculture? Growing urban areas with their high percentage of slums do not offer any safety valve. The only way forward is to remember that crises have also been opportunities for forging new approaches and partnerships that have enabled us to progress. One of the important partnerships proposed is a pan-African one, consistent with efforts of market integration under the AfCFTA (Ghanem, November, 2022). This pan-African approach, which would complement the efforts of individual countries, would focus on drawing on the AU and current development institutions to promote the free flow of agriculture and food throughout the continent, build much-needed hardware infrastructure and encourage the dissemination and use of key inputs. These inputs include services such as agricultural research and extension, fertilizers and the building of a continent-wide fund for food imports during crises. Other collaborative possibilities can and should be created.

Experience to date shows that a strategy that promotes agricultural productivity and the incomes of smallholders as the first rung on the long ladder of development, in an inclusive way and over a period of decades, has worked. The key thing is to start and then sustain the process. The decades-long struggles of countries are ample proof that the achievement of food security for all is akin to nation building. There is strong evidence that such an achievement needs visionary leadership, committed to the public good and capable of drawing on strong institutions of learning and research, aided by continual policy monitoring and evaluation, as well as competent and mission-oriented public administration.

Annex

For additional insights and detailed background information on the impetus behind the handbook, the following Policy Briefs and Policy Papers served as its foundation:

Selective Review of Food Policy Worldwide, Parts I and II

- Mengoub, F. E., and Tsakok, I., Selective Review of Food Security Policy Worldwide: What
 Can Be Learned from International Experiences in Order to Shape Food Security Policy in
 Africa? Part I (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, June 2020), https://www.policycenter.
 ma/publications/selective-review-food-security-policy-worldwide-what-can-be-learned-international
- Mengoub, F. E., and Tsakok, I., Selective Review of Food Security Policy Worldwide: What Can Be Learned from International Experiences in Order to Shape Food Security Policy in Africa?
 Part II (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, November 2020), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/selective-review-food-security-policy-worldwide-what-can-be-learned-international-0

The Five Conditions

- Tsakok, I., Macro and Political Stability: An Essential Condition for Successful Agricultural Transformation (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2018), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/macro-and-political-stability-essential-condition-successful-agricultural
- *Tsakok, I., An Effective Technology Transfer System* (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2018), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/effective-technology-transfer-system
- Tsakok, I., The Pivotal Importance of Good Access to Markets for Farmers (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2018), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/pivotal-importance-good-access-markets-farmers
- Tsakok, I., An Incentivizing System of Ownership and of Usufruct Rights (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2018), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/incentivizing-system-ownership-and-usufruct-rights
- Tsakok, I., Employment Creation in Non-Agricultural Sectors (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2018), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/employment-creation-nonagricultural-sectors

Nigeria and Mozambique

- Tsakok, I., Implications of Food Systems for Food Security: The Case of the Federal Republic
 of Nigeria (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2022), https://www.policycenter.ma/
 publications/implications-food-systems-food-security-case-federal-republic-nigeria
- Tsakok, I., Implications of Food Systems for Food Security: The Case of the Republic of Mozambique (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2022), https://www.policycenter.ma/ publications/implications-food-systems-food-security-case-republic-mozambique

Mauritius

- Tsakok, I., Food Security in the Context of COVID-19: The Public Health Challenge | The Case of the Republic of Mauritius (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2021), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/food-security-context-covid-19-public-health-challenge-case-republic-mauritius
- Tsakok, I., Implications of Food Systems for Food Security During a Time of Multiple Crises: The Republic of Mauritius (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2023), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/implications-food-systems-food-security-during-time-multiple-crises-republic-mauritius

Egypt and Morocco

- Tsakok, I., Short of Water and Under Increasing Pressure to Deliver Food Security: Key Policy
 Considerations The Case of the Arab Republic of Egypt (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South,
 2023), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/short-water-and-under-increasing-pressure-deliver-food-security-key-policy
- Tsakok, I., Short of Water and Under Increasing Pressure to Deliver Food Security: Key Policy Considerations - The Case of the Kingdom of Morocco (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2023), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/short-water-and-under-increasing-pressuredeliver-food-security-key-policy-0
- Boucetta, M., The Green Hydrogen Market: The Industrial Equation of the Energy Transition
 (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 6 January 2023), https://www.policycenter.ma/
 publications/green-hydrogen-market-industrial-equation-energy-transition
- Ghanem, H., The World Needs a Green Bank (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 1 February 2023), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/world-needs-green-bank

Fertilizer Use and Policies for Smallholders in Sub-Saharan Africa

- Tsakok, I., Towards a fertilizer policy for smallholder agriculture in Sub-Saharan Africa: The
 critical importance of taking a holistic approach (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2019),
 https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/towards-fertilizer-policy-smallholder-agriculturesub-saharan-africa-critical
- Tsakok, I., From Asian Green Revolution 1.0 to Sustainable Green Revolution 2.0 (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2019), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/asian-green-revolution-10-sustainable-green-revolution-20

Regional market integration—the EU, ASEAN, MERCOSUR

Tsakok, I., Regional Market Integration, Agricultural Transformation, and Poverty Reduction: A review of experiences in selected cases of regional market integration (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2021), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/regional-market-integration-agricultural-transformation-and-poverty-reductiona-review

Cases of South Africa; Mauritius; Argentina; Uruguay; Rwanda; and Madagascar.

• Tsakok, I., The Republic of South Africa and the African Continental Free Trade Area: Opportunities and Challenges in a Post-COVID-19 Environment (Rabat: Policy Center for the

- New South, 2021), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/republic-south-africa-and-african-continental-free-trade-area-opportunities-and
- Tsakok, I., The Republic of Mauritius and the African Continental Free Trade Area: Opportunities
 and Challenges in a post COVID-19 environment (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South,
 2021), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/republic-mauritius-and-african-continental-free-trade-areaopportunities-and-challenges
- Tsakok, I., The experience of the Argentine Republic: Market integration within MERCOSUR and with other global partners Insights for AfCFTA countries? (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2022), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/experience-argentine-republic-market-integration-within-mercosur-and-other-global
- Tsakok, I., The experience of the Oriental Republic of Uruguay: Market integration within MERCOSUR and with other global partners Insights for AfCFTA countries? (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2022), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/experience-oriental-republic-uruguay-market-integration-within-mercosur-and-other
- Tsakok, I., Regional market integration within AfCFTA to further agri-food transformation and food security - The case of the Republic of Rwanda (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2022), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/regional-market-integration-within-afcftafurther-agri-food-transformation-and-food
- Tsakok, I., Regional market integration within the AfCFTA to further agri-food transformation and food security The case of the Republic of Madagascar (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2022), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/regional-market-integration-within-afcfta-further-agri-food-transformation-and-food-0

Brazil under dual shocks

 Mengoub, F. E., and Tsakok, I., Brazil Agriculture—Response and resilience of food security under dual shocks in 2020: Oil price collapse and the COVID-19 pandemic (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 2021), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/brazil-agriculture-response-and-resilience-food-security-under-dual-shocks-2020-oil

Genetically Modified Organisms (GMOs)

- Mengoub, F. E., and Tsakok, I., Genetically Modified Organisms: Promising or Problematic for Food Security? A Review of Major Developments in Selected Industrialized Countries -Part I (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, January 2021), https://www.policycenter.ma/ publications/genetically-modified-organisms-promising-or-problematic-food-security-reviewmajor
- Mengoub, F. E., and Tsakok, I., Genetically Modified Organisms: Promising or Problematic for Food Security? A Review of Major Developments in Selected Developing Countries - Part II (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, February 2021), https://www.policycenter.ma/ publications/genetically-modified-organisms-promising-or-problematic-food-security-reviewmajor-0

Impact on Morocco's food security from the Russia-Ukraine War

• Ait Ali, A., Dadush, U., Mengoub, F. E., and Tsakok, I., Russia-Ukraine War and Food Security in

Morocco (Rabat: Policy Center for the New South, 21 June 2022), https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/russia-ukraine-war-and-food-security-morocco

Bibliography

- Abdelaaziz Ait Ali, Uri Dadush, Fatima Ezzahra Mengoub & Isabelle Tsakok. April 2022. The Russia-Ukraine War and Food Security in Morocco. Policy Center for the New South, PB -34/22. https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/russia-ukraine-war-and-food-security-morocco
- African Center for Economic Transformation (ACET). 2017. Agriculture Powering Africa's Transformation. African Transformation Report. https://acetforafrica.org/research-and-analysis/reports-studies/atr/african-transformation-report-2017/
- African Union. Theme of the Year 2023: Acceleration of Afcfta Implementation. https://au.int/en/theme/2023/acceleration-of-afcfta-implementation#:~:text=In%20the%20year%20 2023%2C%20the,Tourism%20and%20Travel%2Drelated%20Services.
- Aidi, Hisham. May 2022. "Mozambique: A New Civil War?" Policy Brief. PB -39/22. https://www.policycenter.ma/sites/default/files/2022-05/PB_39-22_Aidi.pdf
- African Development Bank (AfDB). Jul 31-Aug 01, 2023. "Leveraging Potentials of the Youth, for Inclusive, Green and Sustainable Development in Africa" by Dr. Eric Ogunleye, OIC Director, African Development Institute Division Manager, Policy Management. https://www.afdb.org/sites/default/files/2023/08/11/setting_the_scene_presentation_for_g-cop_on_youth_s_.pdf
- Allen, Robert C. 1999. "Tracking the Agricultural Revolution in England." The Economic History Review. May 1999. New Series. Vol. 52, No. 2, pp 209-235. Wiley on behalf of the Economic History Society.
- Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa (AGRA). 2019. Feeding Africa's Soils: Fertilizers to support Africa's agricultural transformation. UNECA. https://repository.uneca.org/ds2/stream/?#/documents/3bbdc2a0-f26d-5643-8409-2fc78f54bb4d/page/4
- Andersson, Martin. 2018. "Resilience to Economic Shrinking: A Social Capability Approach to Processes of Catching up in the Developing World 1951-2016". https://lup.lub.lu.se/search/ws/files/53803357/LUP_183.pdf
- Campbell, Bruce M, Philip Thornton, Robert Zougmouré, Piet van Asten, and Leslie Lipper. Oct 2014. "Sustainable intensification: What is its role in climate smart agriculture?" Elsevier. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability. Vol. 8, pp 39-43. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877343514000359#:~:text=The%20main%20difference%20is%20 the,climate%20change%20adaptation%20and%20mitigation.&text=Sl%20contributes%20 to%20adaptation%3A%20building%20ecosystem%20services%2C%20increasing%20 farm%20incomes.&text=Sl%20is%20crucial%20for%20reduced,and%20less%20land%20 cover%20change.
- Canineu, Maria Laura and César Muñoz. Oct 27, 2021. "The Toll of Bolsonaro's Disastrous Covid-19 Response." (Deputy Director, Environment and Human Rights and Associate Director, Americas Division) Human Rights Watch. https://www.hrw.org/news/2021/10/27/toll-bolsonaros-disastrous-covid-19-response
- Canuto, Otaviano, Hinh T. Dinh, and Karim El Aynaoui. March 2024. The Middle-Income Trap
 and Resource Based Growth: The Case of Brazil. RP-05/24. https://www.policycenter.ma/

- sites/default/files/2024-03/RP_05-24%20%28Otaviano%20Canuto%20-%20Hinh%20T%20Dinh%20and%20Karim%20El%20Aynaoui%20%29.pdf
- Center for Global Development (CGD) Blog Post. Nov 29, 2023. "Main Takeaways on Debt from the Annual Meetings". By Masood Ahmed, Bernat Camps Adrogué, and Hannah Brown. https:// www.cgdev.org/blog/main-takeaways-debt-annual-meetings
- Collier, Paul. 2007. The Bottom Billion: Why the Poorest States are Failing and What Can be Done About it. Oxford University Press.
- Colgrove, James. MPH. May 2002. "The McKeown Thesis: A Historical Controversy and its Enduring Influence". American Journal of Public health, 92 (5): 725-729. https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1447153/
- Conway, Gordon. 2012. One Billion Hungry: Can We Feed the World? Cornell University Press.
- Corruptions Perception Index. 2023. https://www.transparency.org/en/cpi/2023
- Dasgupta, Partha. 1993. An Inquiry into Well-Being and Destitution. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- Deaton, Angus. 2013. The Great Escape: Health, Wealth, and the Origins of Inequality. Princeton University Press: Princeton and Oxford.
- Deaton, Angus. Dec 08 2015. "Measuring and Understanding Behavior, Welfare and Poverty".
 Nobel Prize Lecture. Woodrow Wilson School, Princeton University, United States. https://www.nobelprize.org/uploads/2018/06/deaton-lecture.pdf
- De Janvry, Alain, and Elizabeth Sadoulet. 2020. "Using Agriculture for Development: Supplyand Demand-Side Approaches". Elsevier. World Development, Vol. 133, Sept. 2020, 105003
- Denning, Glenn. Jan 2023. Universal Food Security: How to End Hunger While Protecting the Planet. Columbia University Press.
- El Aynaoui, Karim, Paolo Magri, Samir Savan. Dec 2023. The Rise of the Global South: New Consensus Wanted. Annual Trends Report. Italian Institute for International Political Studies (IIPS), Observer Research Foundation (ORF), and Policy Center for the New South (PCNS). https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/rise-global-south-new-consensus-wanted. https://www.policycenter.ma/sites/default/files/2023-12/Annual%20Trends%20Report%20 2023-ISPI-ORF-PCNS_final.pdf
- Floud, Roderick, Robert W Fogel, Bernard Harris, and Sok Chul Hol. 2011. The Changing Body: Health, Nutrition, and Human Development in the Western World since 1700. Cambridge University Press.
- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), IFAD, UNICEF, WFP, WHO. 2023. The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World: Urbanization, Agrifood Systems Transformation, and Healthy Diets Across the Rural-Urban Continuum. https://www.fao.org/3/cc3017en/online/ cc3017en.html
- Food Print. Jan 22, 2024. "Sustainable Agriculture Versus Industrial Agriculture: US policy changes shifted agriculture towards ever more consolidation and industrialization. But there are sustainable alternatives that are gaining ground." https://foodprint.org/issues/sustainableagriculture-vs-industrial-agriculture/

- Fogel, Robert William. Dec 09, 1993. "Economic Growth, Population Theory and Physiology: The Bearing of Long-term Processes on the Making of Economic Processes". Nobel lecture. https://www.nobelprize.org/uploads/2018/06/fogel-lecture.pdf
- Fogel, Robert William. 2004. *The Escape from Hunger and Premature Death*, 1700-2100: Europe, America, and the World. Cambridge University Press.
- Fogel, Robert W and Dora L Costa. Feb 1997. "A Theory of Technophysio Evolution with Some Implications for Forecasting Population, Health Care, and Pension Costs." The Demography of Aging, Vol. 34, # 1, pp 49-66 (18 pages) Duke University Press.
- Foote, Natasha. Jan 25, 2024. "Plan to Loosen EU Rules on Genetic Technologies Passes First Parliament Hurdle". https://www.arc2020.eu/plan-to-loosen-eu-rules-on-genetictechnologies-passes-first-parliament-hurdle/
- Ghanem, Hafez. Nov 02, 2022. "Towards a Pan-African Approach to Food Security." Policy Brief.
 PB -62/22. Nov 2022. https://www.policycenter.ma/sites/default/files/2022-11/PB_62_22_Hafez%20Ghanem.pdf
- International Food and Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) Feb 2018. Book launch: John W Mellor on agriculture and economic transformation. By Katarlah Taylor. https://www.ifpri.org/blog/book-launch-john-w-mellor-agriculture-and-economic-transformation
- International Food and Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). Sept 2019. "A Policy Taxonomy for Agricultural Transformation". By Sofia Baliño, David Laborde, Sophia Murphy, Marie Parent, Carin Smaller and Fousseini Traoré. https://www.iisd.org/system/files/publications/ agricultural-transformation-taxonomy.pdf?q=sites/default/files/publications/agriculturaltransformation-taxonomy.pdf
- International Food and Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). Policy Note # 5. "The impacts of agricultural input subsidies in Malawi". By Christopher Chibwana and Monica Fisher. https://ebrary.ifpri.org/utils/getfile/collection/p15738coll2/id/124970/filename/124971.pdf
- International Food and Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). Policy Brief. April 2023. "Egypt's Takaful Cash Transfer Program: Impacts and Recommendations from the Second Round Evaluation. By Hoda El-Enbaby, Dalia Elsabbagh, Daniel O. Gilligan, Naureen Karachiwalla, Bastien Kolt, and Sikandra Kurdi. https://ebrary.ifpri.org/utils/getfile/collection/p15738coll2/id/136690/filename/136900.pdf
- International Monetary Fund (IMF) Feb 08, 2021. "Nigeria Selected Issues—the Diversification of the Nigerian Economy". https://www.elibrary.imf.org/view/journals/002/2021/034/article-A002-en.xml
- Ishmael, Len. October 2023. The New South is a Multipolar World: Multi-Alignment or Fence Sitting? Lessons from South Africa, India and Others. Policy Paper. PP -16/23 https://www.policycenter.ma/sites/default/files/2023-10/PP_16-23_Len%20Ishmael%20VF.pdf
- Kretschmer, Alva, and Yuan Zhou. April 28, 2022. "The Malabo Ag. Commitments: How is Africa doing?" Syngenta: Foundation for Sustainable Agriculture. https://www.syngentafoundation.org/news/recent-news/malabo-ag-commitments-how-africa-doing
- Kwan, Jacklin. Aug 18, 2023. "Commemorating the life and career of Professor Sir

- Gordon Conway". Imperial College, London. https://www.imperial.ac.uk/news/247035/commemorating-life-career-professor-sir-gordon/
- Kusters, Koen. April 26, 2022. "Don't fixate on smallholders –In conversation with Stefan Dercon" www.tropenbos.org/news/don%E2%80%99t+fixate+on+smallholders+-+in+conversation+with+stefan+dercon
- Lele, Uma, Manmohan Agarwal, and Sambuddha Goswami. 2021. Ch 2 (pp 61-138) in Food for all: International Organizations and the Transformation of Agriculture. By Lele, Uma, Agarwal Manmohan, and Goswami Sambuddha. Oxford University Press.
- Lindert, Peter H, Jeffrey G Williamson. Feb 1983. "English Workers' Living Standards During the Industrial Revolution: A New Look" The Economic History Review, New Series, Vol 36, No. 1, pp. 1-25
- Lund University. Resilience to economic shrinking. https://www.resiliencetoshrinking.com/
- Malabo-Montpellier (MAMO) Panel. 2013. Sustainable Intensification: A New Paradigm for African Agriculture. A Report. https://www.mamopanel.org/media/uploads/files/SUSTAINABLE_ INTENSIFICATION- A NEW PARADIGM FOR AFRICAN AGRICULTURE 2013.pdf
- Malabo-Montpellier (MAMO) Panel. 2018 Water-wise: Smart Irrigation Strategies for Africa. https://www.mamopanel.org/media/uploads/ files/Water-Wise_Smart_Irrigation_ Strategies_for_Africa
- Malabo-Montpellier (MAMO) Panel. 2019. BYTE BY BYTE: Policy Innovation for Transforming Africa's Food System With Digital Technologies. https://www.mamopanel.org/media/uploads/files/2019_MaMo_Digital_Report_ONLINE_UiUPwum.pdf
- Masahela, Tlou Samuel, and Eugenia Barros. June 07, 2023. "The African continent should consider a harmonized consultative and collaborative effort towards coordinated policy and regulatory guidelines across the fields of biotechnology" https://www.frontiersin.org/ articles/10.3389/fbioe.2023.1211789/full
- Mellor, John, W. 2017. Agricultural Development and Economic Transformation: Promoting Growth with Poverty Reduction. Palgrave, Macmillan: New York, NY.
- Malthus, Thomas Robert. 1798. An Essay on the Principle of Population. (There were six editions until 1826).
- Mohamed, Hanan. Aug. 20, 2023. "Egypt's 2023/24 in the spotlight". In Egypt Today. https://www.egypttoday.com/Article/3/126411/Egypt-s-2023-24-in-the-spotlight
- Mosher, Arthur Theodore. 1966. *Getting Agriculture Moving: Essentials for Development and Modernization*. New York: Praeger
- New partnership for African Development (NEPAD). April 2016.Transforming Africa. CAADP
 Guidelines: CAADP Country Implementation Under Malabo Declaration. https://au.int/
 sites/default/files/documents/31251-doc-the_country_caadp_implementation_guide_-_
 version d 05 apr.pdf
- Relief web. Sept 16, 2022. The Black Sea Grain Initiative: What is it, and Why it is so important
 to the World. By Mark Garten. https://reliefweb.int/report/ukraine/black-sea-grain-initiativewhat-it-and-why-its-important-world-enru?gad_source=1&gclid=Cj0KCQiA7aSsBhCiARIsALFv

- ovw08hWJ6kf87PX86Fg7CFB7n7MKraBZJEbLipo-DV5LDkYUzdjjPEcaAg4JEALw wcB
- Rock-Singer, Aaron. May 21, 2023. "Bread in Egypt: Politics, Social Unrest, and State Stability" The Washington Institute for Near East Policy. PolicyWatch 3744. https://www.washingtoninstitute. org/policy-analysis/bread-egypt-politics-social-unrest-and-state-stability
- Sabatini, Dr. Christopher. Nov 20, 2023. "Argentines voted to dismantle Peronist patronage. Whether Milei can do that is uncertain." Chatham House. https://www.chathamhouse.org/2023/11/argentines-voted-dismantle-peronist-patronage-whether-milei-can-do-uncertain?gad_source=1&gclid=CjwKCAjww_iwBhApEiwAuG6ccJ0P-NpAQOMkXqPQLqf4WFtUL2LajH8F6exzY0KS4G86hczDBD8x9hoCurkQAvDBwE
- Schultz, Theodore. 1964. Transforming Traditional Agriculture. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Serghini, Hassan. June 2015. Rethinking African Agriculture and Rural transformation in the Global Context: Challenges, Opportunities and Policy Options: The Case of Morocco
- Sen Amartya. 1999. Development as Freedom. Alfred A. Knopf: New York
- The Africa We Want: Achieving socioeconomic transformation through inclusive and equitable access to land by the youth https://www.uneca.org/clpa2017
- The New Arab Staff. June 26, 2023. "Egypt population boom will see it become the world's top wheat importer". https://www.newarab.com/news/egypt-population-boom-make-it-worlds-top-wheat-importer#:~:text=Egypt%20is%20set%20to%20become%20the%20worlds%20largest%20importer%20of,11.2%20million%20the%20previous%20year.
- Timmer, C. Peter. Nov 22, 2004. "Food Security and Economic Growth: An Asian Perspective".
 Center for Global Development. Also reprinted as CGD, Working Paper # 51, Dec 2004.https://www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/2738_file_WP_51_Food_Security.pdf
- Timmer, C. Peter. 2007. "A World Without Agriculture: The Structural Transformation in Historical Perspective". Henry Wendt Lecture Series. Reprinted in 2009 by the American Enterprise Institute (AEI) Press: Washington D.C.
- Timmer, C. Peter. Autumn 2012. Book review of *One Billion Hungry: Can we feed the world?*http://archive.wilsonquarterly.com/book-reviews/feeding-masses-0
- Timmer, C. Peter. 2015. Food Security and Scarcity: Why Ending Hunger Is So Hard. Center for Global Development and University of Pennsylvania Press: Philadelphia.
- Timmer, C. Peter. March 03, 2023. Book review of Universal Food Security: How to End Hunger While Protecting the Planet. Columbia University Press. The Developing Economies; Institute of Developing Economies.
- Transparency International Feb 06. 2024. "Transparency International Deeply Concerned Over Brazilian Supreme Court's Investigative Order." https://www.transparency.org/en/press/ transparency-international-deeply-concerned-over-brazilian-supreme-court-investigation-order
- Tsakok, Isabelle. 2011. Success in Agricultural Transformation: What it Means and What Makes it Happen. Cambridge Univ. Press: Cambridge.

- United Nations: Black Sea Grain Initiative Coordination Center. https://www.un.org/en/black-sea-grain-initiative?gclid=Cj0KCQiA7aSsBhCiARIsALFvovywVqCKRLYBJWKudw0EhcvNccfM176my6VIVvXIS0YbsgzkJBQkYGcaAnQFEALw_wcB
- Wintour, Patrick. July 21, 2023. "What was the Black Sea Grain Deal and Why Did it Collapse?"
 The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2023/jul/20/what-was-the-black-sea-grain-deal-and-why-did-it-collapse
- World Bank. Sept. 16, 2010. Arab Republic of Egypt: Egypt's food subsidies: Benefits Incidence and leakages. Report # 57446. https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/126581468026382278/pdf/574460ESW0P12210dislcosed0101211101.pdf
- World Bank Group (WBG) May 16, 2017. Country Partnership Framework for the Federative Republic of Brazil, for the Period FY 18-FY 23. Report # 113259-BR. https://documents1. worldbank.org/curated/en/148141498229092629/pdf/20170619-Brazil-CPF-draft-for-Board-with-CLR-Acknowledgement-Box-06202017.pdf
- World Bank Group (WBG) Jan 18, 2019. Country Partnership Framework for the Kingdom of Morocco for the Period FY 19-FY 24. Report # 13109-MA. https://documents1. worldbank.org/curated/en/101781550869524206/pdf/Program-Document-Morocco-CPF-P166669-01252019-636865562861022997.pdf
- World Bank Group (WBG). March 28, 2019. Country Partnership Framework for the Argentine Republic. For the Period FY 19-22. Report # 131971-AR. https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/579151556416868661/pdf/Argentina-Country-Partnership-Framework-for-the-Period-FY19-FY22.pdf
- World Bank Blog. Nov 17, 2020. "Takaful and Karama: A Social Safety Net project that Promotes Egyptian Women Empowerment and Human Capital". https://www.worldbank.org/en/results/2020/11/17/takaful-and-karama-a-social-safety-net-project-that-promotes-egyptian-women-empowerment-and-human-capital
- World Bank. April 2021. Mauritius: Poverty and Equity Brief. By German Caruso. https://databankfiles.worldbank.org/public/ddpext_download/poverty/987B9C90-CB9F-4D93-AE8C-750588BF00QA/AM2020/Global POVEQ MUS.pdf
- WDI. GNI per capita. Indonesia (USD current dollars. Atlas method) https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GNP.PCAP.CD?locations=ID
- World Bank Blog. Dec 21, 2022. A transformed fertilizer market is needed in response to the food crisis in Africa. By David Malpass. https://blogs.worldbank.org/voices/transformed-fertilizer-market-needed-response-food-crisis-africa#:~:text=Sub%2DSaharan%20Africa%20 has%20an,(146%20kilograms%20per%20hectare).
- World Bank Group (WBG). Oct, 2022. Morocco: Country Climate and Development Report. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/c5c11886-30bf-5350-8e5f-df9722b85fe0/content
- World Bank Group (WBG). Nov 08, 2022. Egypt: Country Climate and Development Report. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/c2a8d937-5947-5320-9625-559251c55662/content

About the Author

Isabelle Tsakok, development practitioner, policy analyst, researcher, and teacher, is a Senior Fellow at the Policy Center for the New South. She grew up in the Republic of Mauritius, a multi-lingual, multi-ethnic and multi-cultural society. She holds a PHD in Economics from Harvard University, and a BA in Phil/ Econ from the London School of Economics. As World Bank staff and consultant, she has focused on agricultural and rural development including on issues of agricultural transformation, food security, and poverty reduction. She has worked in most regions of the developing world, including Africa -North and South of the Sahara; Asia - South, Southeast and East; and Latin America. She has taught courses on agricultural policies and institutions at the World Bank; the School of Agricultural and Rural Department, Renmin University of China; the School of International and Public Affairs (SIPA), Columbia University; and the Université Polytechnique Mohamed VI, Morocco. Her publications address issues of methodology of partial equilibrium analysis for assessing agricultural policies and distortions; and of agricultural transformation from smallholder, subsistence to demand-driven commercial farming. Her latest book publication is Success in Agricultural Transformation: What it Means and What Makes it Happen (Cambridge Univ. Press, 2011).

Policy Center for the New South

Rabat Campus of Mohammed VI Polytechnic University Rocade Rabat Salé - 11103 Morocco

Email:contact@policycenter.ma

Phone: +212 5 37 54 04 04 / Fax: +212 5 37 71 31 54